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Cautionary statement regarding forward-looking statements
This report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) about us and our industry that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Statements that are predictive in
nature, that depend upon or refer to future events or conditions or that include the words “may,” “could,” “plan,” “project,” “budget,” “predict,” “pursue,” “target,” “seek,”
“objective,” “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “estimate,” or similar expressions that are predictions of or indicate future events and trends and that do not relate to
historical matters identify forward-looking statements. Our forward-looking statements include statements about our business strategy, our industry, our future profitability, our
expected capital expenditures and the impact of such expenditures on our performance, the costs of being a publicly traded corporation and our capital programs.
A forward-looking statement may include a statement of the assumptions or bases underlying the forward-looking statement. We believe that we have chosen these assumptions
or bases in good faith and that they are reasonable. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements. You should also understand that it is not
possible to predict or identify all such factors and should not consider the following list to be a complete statement of all potential risks and uncertainties. Factors that could
cause our actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by such forward-looking statements include:
•

uncertainty regarding the timing, pace and extent of an economic recovery in the United States and elsewhere, which in turn will likely affect demand for crude oil and
natural gas and therefore the demand for our services;

•

the level of production of crude oil, natural gas and other hydrocarbons and the resultant market prices of crude oil, natural gas, natural gas liquids and other
hydrocarbons;

•

the severity and duration of world health events, including the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, related economic repercussions and the resulting severe disruption
in the oil and gas industry and negative impact on demand for oil and gas, which has and may continue to negatively impact our business;

•

a further decline or future decline in domestic spending by the onshore oil and natural gas industry;

•

actions by members of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Counties, Russia and other oil-producing countries with respect to oil production levels and
announcements of potential changes in such levels;

•

the political environment in oil and natural gas producing regions, including uncertainty or instability resulting from civil disorder, terrorism or war, such as the recent
conflict between Russia and Ukraine, which may negatively impact our operating results;

•

changes in general economic and geopolitical conditions;

•

competitive conditions in our industry;

•

changes in the long-term supply of and demand for oil and natural gas;

•

actions taken by our customers, competitors and third-party operators;

•

a decline in demand for proppant;

•

our ability to obtain permits, approvals and authorizations from governmental and third parties, and the effects of or changes to U.S. government regulation;

•

changes in the availability and cost of capital;

•

our ability to successfully implement our business plan;

•

large or multiple customer defaults, including defaults resulting from actual or potential insolvencies;

•

the effects of consolidation on our customers or competitors;

•

the price and availability of debt and equity financing (including changes in interest rates);

•

our ability to complete growth projects on time and on budget;

•

our ability to finance, consummate, integrate and realize the benefits expected from our recently completed and pending acquisitions, including any related synergies;
1
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•

introduction of new drilling or completion techniques, or services using new technologies subject to patent or other intellectual property protections;

•

operating hazards, natural disasters, weather-related delays, casualty losses and other matters beyond our control;

•

acts of terrorism, war or political or civil unrest in the United States or elsewhere;

•

loss or corruption of our information or a cyberattack on our computer systems;

•

the price and availability of alternative fuels and energy sources;

•

federal, state and local regulation of hydraulic fracturing and other oilfield service activities, as well as exploration and production activities, including public pressure
on governmental bodies and regulatory agencies to regulate our industry;

•

the availability of water resources, suitable proppant and chemicals in sufficient quantities for use in hydraulic fracturing fluids;

•

the effects of existing and future laws and governmental regulations (or the interpretation thereof) on us and our customers;

•

the effects of future litigation; and

•

other factors discussed in this report.

You should not place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Although forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs at the time they are made, forwardlooking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including the factors described in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
the factors described under the heading “Risk Factors” in our prospectus, dated May 12, 2022, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) pursuant to Rule
424(b) under the Securities Act on May 16, 2022 in connection with our initial public offering, and the factors described under the heading “Risk Factors” in our prospectus,
dated August 8, 2022, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act on August 8, 2022 in connection with the resale of our Class A common stock by the
selling shareholders named therein, any of which may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.
We have also made certain statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q regarding our pending acquisition of U.S. Well Services, Inc. described elsewhere in this report,
and have set forth in this report under Part II, Item 1A, certain risk factors relating to this acquisition, including the capital we will need to consummate the acquisition, that
could adversely affect our business and prospects. The risks included above and in this report and in our other filings with the SEC are not exhaustive. Except as required by
law, we expressly disclaim any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisions to any such statements to reflect any change in our expectations or any
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such forward-looking statement is based. These cautionary statements qualify all forward-looking statements
attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf.
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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

ProFrac Holding Corp.
Consolidated balance sheets
(Unaudited)

June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Accounts receivable—related party
Prepaid expenses, and other current assets
Assets held for sale
Inventories
Total current assets
Property, plant, and equipment
Accumulated depreciation and depletion
Property, plant, and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets
Investments
Intangible assets, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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73,653
444,997
3,637
19,331
1,805
192,377
735,800
1,231,205
(566,960 )
664,245
80,664
3,316
49,752
28,241
82,340
19,267
1,663,625

December 31,
2021

$

$

5,376
161,632
4,515
6,213
—
73,942
251,678
827,865
(464,178 )
363,687
—
—
4,244
27,816
—
17,145
664,570
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ProFrac Holding Corp.
Consolidated balance sheets
(Unaudited)

June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Liabilities, redeemable noncontrollable interest, and stockholders' and members' (deficit) equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accounts payable—related party
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Accrued expenses
Other current liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt
Long-term debt—related party
Operating lease liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 17)
Redeemable noncontrolling interest
Stockholders' and members' equity
Members' equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 authorized,
none issued and outstanding
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value, 600,000,000 authorized,
41,237,003 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2022 and
none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021
Class B common stock, $0.01 par value, 400,000,000 authorized,
101,133,201 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2022 and
none issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total stockholders' and members' equity attributable to ProFrac Holding Corp.
Noncontrolling interests
Total stockholders' and members' (deficit) equity
Total liabilities, redeemable noncontrollable interest, and stockholders' and members' (deficit) equity
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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$

December 31,
2021

178,905
37,577
9,160
159,304
15,835
51,329
452,110
427,961
—
75,397
955,468

$

2,024,687

—

—

147,015

412

—

1,011
—
(1,410,780 )
(36 )
(1,409,393 )
92,863
$

121,070
21,275
—
38,149
34,400
31,793
246,687
235,128
34,645
—
516,460

(1,316,530 )
1,663,625

—
—
—
56
147,071
1,039
$

148,110
664,570
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ProFrac Holding Corp.
Consolidated statements of operations
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Revenues
Operating costs and expenses:
Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation, depletion and amortization
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Loss on disposal of assets, net
Selling, general, and administrative
Total operating costs and expenses
Operating income (loss)
Other (expense) income:
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other income, net
Income (loss) before income tax provision
Income tax (provision) benefit
Net income (loss)
Less: net (income) loss attributable to ProFrac Predecessor
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Less: net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to ProFrac Holding Corp.
Basic and diluted earnings per Class A share
Weighted average shares used in computing basic earnings per Class A share
Weighted average shares used in computing diluted earnings per Class A share

$

589,844

$

340,600
64,064
2,143
87,548
494,355
95,489

$
$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(13,451 )
(8,822 )
989
74,205
(4,112 )
70,093
(56,157 )
8,704
(16,082 )
6,558
0.16
40,123
40,145

174,819

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

$

126,708
34,904
1,868
14,094
177,574
(2,755 )

$

(6,187 )
—
53
(8,889 )
283
(8,606 )
8,478
128
—
—

$
$

934,824

$

324,405

573,199
108,280
1,989
121,675
805,143
129,681

245,014
70,365
4,075
27,872
347,326
(22,921 )

(22,723 )
(17,095 )
9,220
99,083
(4,864 )
94,219
(79,867 )
8,288
(16,082 )
6,558
0.16
40,123
40,145

(12,222 )
—
240
(34,903 )
308
(34,595 )
34,476
119
—
—

$
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ProFrac Holding Corp.
Consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss)
(Unaudited)

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Net income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Comprehensive income
Less: comprehensive income attributable to ProFrac Predecessor
Less: comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interest
Less: comprehensive income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interest
Comprehensive income attributable to ProFrac Holding Corp.

$

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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70,093
13
70,106
(56,157 )
8,701
(16,082 )
6,568

$

$

(8,606 )
4
(8,602 )
8,474
128
—
—

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

$

$

94,219
(123 )
94,096
(79,765 )
8,319
(16,082 )
6,568

$

$

(34,595 )
10
(34,585 )
34,466
119
—
—

Table of Contents

ProFrac Holding Corp.
Consolidated statements of changes in equity
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)
Balance, January 1, 2022
Net income
Member contributions
Deemed distribution
THRC related equity
Foreign currency translation
Balance, March 31, 2022
Net income prior to corporate
reorganization
Issuance of Class A shares in IPO
Issuance of Class B shares
Effect of corporate reorganization
and reclassification to redeemable
noncontrolling interest
Adjustment of redeemable
noncontrolling interest to
redemption amount at IPO
Class A shares issued to settle
asset purchase
Net income after corporate
reorganization
Recognition of Flotek
noncontrolling interest
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation related
to deemed contribution
Foreign currency translation
Additional paid-in capital related
to tax receivable agreement
Adjustment of redeemable
noncontrolling interest to
redemption amount
Balance, June 30, 2022

Members'
Equity
$ 147,015
23,710
5,000
(3,664 )
72,931
—
$ 244,992

$

Class A Common
Stock
Shares
Amount
—
$
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$
—

Class B Common
Stock
Shares
Amount
—
$
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$
56
—
—
—
—
(102 )
$
(46 )

Additional
Paid
in Capital
$
—
—
—
—
—
—
$
—

Retained
Earnings
$
—
—
—
—
—
—
$
—

—
227,548
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

(46 )
—
—

56,111
227,730
1,011

—

—

—

(382,050 )

—

—

(1,438,348)

—

Noncontrolling
Interests
$
1,039
416
—
—
—
(34 )
$
1,421

Total
Equity
(Deficit)
$ 148,110
24,126
5,000
(3,664 )
72,931
(136 )
$ 246,367

56,157
—
—

—
18,228
—

—
182
—

—
—
101,133

—
—
1,011

(301,149 )

20,895

209

—

—

(81,110 )

—

—

—

—

—

(146,438 )

—

2,114

21

—

—

16,675

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

6,558

—

(8,658 )

(2,100 )

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
269

—
—

—
—

99,617
526

99,617
795

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

11,252
—

—
—

—
10

—
3

11,252
13

—

—

—

—

—

609

—

—

—

609

—
—

—
41,237

—
412

—
101,133

—
$ 1,011

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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$

(28,805 )
—

(1,291,910)

(125,428 )
$ (1,410,780)

$

—
(36 )

$

—
92,863

16,696

(154,233 )
$ (1,316,530)
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ProFrac Holding Corp.
Consolidated statements of changes in equity
(Unaudited)

Members'
Equity
$ 175,027
(25,998 )
—

Class A Common
Stock
Shares
Amount
—
$
—
—
—
—
—

(In thousands)
Balance, January 1, 2021
Net (loss) income
Foreign currency translation
Noncontrolling interest of acquired
business
Balance, March 31, 2021
$

—
149,029

—
—

Net loss
Foreign currency translation
Balance, June 30, 2021

(8,478 )
—
140,551

—
—
—

$

Class B Common
Stock
Shares
Amount
—
$
—
—
—
—
—

$

—
—

—
—

$

—
—
—

—
—
—

$

—
—

$

—
—
—

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Additional
Paid
in Capital
$
—
—
—

$

—
—

$

—
—
—

Retained
Earnings
$
—
—
—

$

—
—

$

—
—
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)
$
—
—
6

$

—
6

$

—
4
10

Noncontrolling
Interests
$
1,785
9
—

Total
Equity
(Deficit)
$ 176,812
(25,989 )
6

$

1,228
3,022

1,228
$ 152,057

$

(128 )
—
2,894

(8,606 )
4
$ 143,455
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ProFrac Holding Corp
Consolidated statements of cash flow
(Unaudited)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Stock based compensation
Loss on disposal of assets, net
Non-cash loss on extinguishment of debt
Amortization of debt issuance costs
Bad debt expense, net of recoveries
Deferred tax expense
Unrealized gain on investments, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenues and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Investment in property, plant & equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired
Investment in preferred shares of BPC
Initial investment in Flotek
Other investments
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Borrowings from revolving credit agreements
Repayments to revolving credit agreements
Payment of debt issuance costs
Member contribution
Proceeds from issuance of common stock
Payment of THRC related equity
Payment of common stock issuance costs
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash end of period
Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash payments for interest
Cash payments for taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable
Operating lease liabilities incurred from obtaining right-of-use-assets

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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94,219

$

(34,595 )

108,280
40,304
1,989
10,230
2,729
5
1,024
(8,526 )

70,365
—
4,075
—
1,063
83
—
—

(174,371 )
(63,881 )
(7,108 )
(12,750 )
82,629
9,691
84,464

(25,317 )
(7,423 )
201
(286 )
18,614
—
26,780

(116,069 )
46,101
(257,267 )
(47,202 )
(10,000 )
(3,893 )
(388,330 )

(53,607 )
17,586
(2,430 )
—
—
—
(38,451 )

$

587,560
(497,825 )
197,233
(122,883 )
(23,584 )
5,000
329,118
(72,931 )
(27,444 )
374,244
70,378
5,376
75,754

$

42,084
(18,856 )
14,000
(10,000 )
(1,127 )
—
—
—
—
26,101
14,430
2,952
17,382

$
$

13,139
118

$
$

12,624
—

$
$

27,377
44,968

$
$

7,837
—
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ProFrac Holding Corp
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(Amounts in thousands, except as noted)
(unaudited)

1. Organization and description of business
ProFrac Holding Corp. (“ProFrac Corp.”) and its consolidated subsidiaries, including ProFrac Holdings, LLC (“ProFrac LLC”), is a vertically integrated and innovation-driven
energy services company providing hydraulic fracturing, completion services and other complementary products and services to leading upstream oil and gas companies
engaged in the exploration and production (“E&P”) of North American unconventional oil and natural gas resources. The Company operates in three business segments:
stimulation services, manufacturing, and proppant production.
Company Formation
ProFrac Corp. was incorporated as a Delaware corporation on August 17, 2021, to become a holding corporation for ProFrac LLC and its subsidiaries upon completion of a
corporate reorganization in conjunction with a planned initial public offering (“IPO”). On May 12, 2022, ProFrac Corp. completed its IPO and corporate reorganization and
became the managing member of ProFrac LLC.
The unaudited consolidated financial statements presented herein are those of ProFrac Corp. subsequent to the corporate reorganization on May 12, 2022, and ProFrac LLC
before that date. In these notes to the consolidated financial statements, ProFrac Corp. and ProFrac LLC together are also referred to as “we,” “us,” “our,” or the “Company” and
ProFrac LLC is also referred to as “ProFrac Predecessor.” For all periods presented, the unaudited consolidated financial statements presented herein include the controlled
subsidiaries of ProFrac LLC, which include Best Pump & Flow LP (“Best Flow”) and Alpine Silica, LLC (“Alpine”).
Prior to December 21, 2021, Dan Wilks and Farris Wilks (or entities they control) (collectively, the “Wilks”) held a controlling interest in each of ProFrac LLC, Best Flow and
Alpine. Historical periods for ProFrac Predecessor had been presented on a consolidated and combined basis given the common control ownership by the Wilks. On December
21, 2021, all of the then-outstanding membership interests in Best Flow and Alpine were contributed to ProFrac LLC in exchange for membership interests in ProFrac LLC.
Accordingly, the results for the three and six months ended June 30, 2021 have been retrospectively adjusted to present the operations of ProFrac LLC, Best Flow and Alpine on
a combined basis. The acquisitions of Best Flow and Alpine have been accounted for in a manner consistent with the pooling of interest method of accounting, as the transaction
was a combination of entities under common control. Under this method of accounting, the statements of operations, comprehensive income, equity and cash flows have been
adjusted to include all activities of the commonly controlled groups for all periods in which common control existed.
10
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Initial Public Offering
On May 12, 2022, ProFrac Corp. completed its IPO of16,000,000 shares of its Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the "Class A Common Stock") at a public
offering price of $18.00 per share. On June 6, 2022, an over-allotment option was exercised resulting in an additional2,228,153 shares of Class A Common Stock being
priced at $18.00 per share. The IPO and exercise of the over-allotment option generated combined net proceeds of $301.7 million, after deducting underwriter discounts and
commissions and estimated offering costs. The Company used $72.9 million of the net proceeds to redeem the membership ownership interests from the then-existing owners
of THRC FTSI Related Equity (as described in Note 14 – Acquisitions and investments) and contributed the remaining proceeds to ProFrac Holdings, LLC. The Company
used the remaining proceeds (i) to pay down $143.8 million of the outstanding borrowings under the New Term Loan Credit Facility (as defined herein) (ii) to fully pay the
$22.0 million of the outstanding borrowings of the Backstop Note (as defined herein) (iii) pay down $22.0 million of the outstanding borrowings of the Closing Date Note (as
defined herein) (iv) to pay down $20.8 million of the outstanding borrowings of the Equify Bridge Note (as defined herein) and (v) with the remaining proceeds to be used for
general corporate uses and additional repayment of debt.
Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests
ProFrac Corp’s only material asset is an equity interest consisting of units representing limited liability company interests in ProFrac LLC (“PFH Units”). As the sole
managing member of ProFrac LLC, ProFrac Corp. operates and controls all of the business and affairs of ProFrac LLC and conducts its business through ProFrac LLC and its
subsidiaries. As a result, ProFrac Corp. consolidates the financial results of ProFrac LLC and its subsidiaries and reports a noncontrolling interest related to the portion of PFH
Units not owned by ProFrac Corp., which reduces net income attributable to holders of ProFrac Corp.’s Class A common stock. The holders of PFH Units not owned by
ProFrac Corp. also hold shares of ProFrac Corp.’s Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Class B Common Stock”) such that a single share of Class B
Common Stock is issued for each PFH Unit not owned by ProFrac Corp.
The holders of PFH Units not owned by ProFrac Corp. may redeem all or a portion of their PFH Units, together with a corresponding number of shares of Class B Common
Stock, for either shares of Class A Common Stock or an approximately equivalent amount of cash, at the election of the Company. In connection with the exercise of such
redemption, a corresponding number of shares of Class B Common Stock will be cancelled. The redemption election is not considered to be within the control of the
Company because the holders of Class B Common Stock and their affiliates control the Company through direct representation on ProFrac Corp.’s Board of Directors. As a
result, we present the noncontrolling interests in ProFrac LLC as redeemable noncontrolling interests outside of permanent equity.
From January 1, 2022 through June 30, 2022, we recorded adjustments to the value of our redeemable noncontrolling interests as shown below:

Redeemable Noncontrolling
Interests
2022

(in thousands)

Balance as of January 1, 2022
Effect of corporate reorganization and reclassification to redeemable noncontrolling interest
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest to redemption amount at IPO (1)
Class A common stock issued to settle asset purchase
Net income after corporate reorganization
Stock-based compensation
Stock-based compensation related to deemed contribution
Accrued distribution related to income taxes
Adjustment of redeemable noncontrolling interest to redemption amount (2)
Balance as of June 30, 2022

$

$

—
382,050
1,438,348
21,361
16,082
660
27,597
(15,644 )
154,233
2,024,687

(1) Based on 101,133,201 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding and the $18.00 per share IPO price.
(2) Based on 101,133,201 shares of Class B Common Stock outstanding and the 10-day VWAP of Class A Common Stock of $20.02 at June 30, 2022.
As of June 30, 2022, ProFrac Corp. owned 29.0% of ProFrac LLC with the remaining 71.0% owned directly by other PFH Unit holders. As of June 30, 2022, ProFrac Corp. had
outstanding 41.2 million shares of Class A Common Stock (representing approximately 29.0% of the total voting power) and 101.1 million shares of Class B Common Stock
(representing approximately 71.0% of the total voting power).

2. Summary of significant accounting policies
Basis of presentation
The unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for
interim financial reporting and pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally
accepted accounting principles for complete financial statements. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2021 included within the Company’s final prospectus filed with the SEC on May 16, 2022, pursuant to Rule
424(b) under the Securities Act. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and all majority-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. In our opinion, all adjustments considered necessary for a fair statement have been included in the
accompanying unaudited financial statements. Operating results for the three and six-months ended June 30, 2022, are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be
expected for the full year ending December 31, 2022. The December 31, 2021, balance sheet information has been derived from the 2021 audited financial statements of
ProFrac Predecessor.
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Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect (1) the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and (2) the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We base these estimates on historical results and various other assumptions
believed to be reasonable, all of which form the basis for making estimates concerning the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily available from other
sources. It is at least reasonably possible these estimates could be revised in the near term, and these revisions could be material.
Leases
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception of the arrangement. To the extent that we determine an arrangement represents a lease, we classify that lease
as an operating lease or a finance lease. We capitalize operating and finance leases on our consolidated balance sheets through a right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a corresponding
lease liability. ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the
lease. See Note 12 – Leases for additional information.
Operating and finance lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term.
Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Revenue recognition
The Company’s products and services are sold based upon contracts with customers. The Company recognizes revenue as it satisfies performance obligations by transferring
control over a service or product to a customer. Payment terms are specified in each customer agreement and are typically a specific number of days following satisfaction of the
performance obligation. The following are descriptions of the principal activities of each reportable segment from which the Company generates its revenue.
Stimulation services. We generate revenue through the provision of hydraulic fracturing services, which involves the injection of water, sand and chemicals under high
pressure into formations to optimize hydrocarbon flow paths during the completion phase of wellbores. Our contracts with customers are short term in nature, typically less than
four weeks, and have a single performance obligation, which is the contracted total stages, satisfied over time. Once a stage has been completed, a field ticket is created which
includes charges for services performed and any inputs consumed during the service. The signing of the field ticket by a customer representative represents their acceptance of
the service and agreement to the amounts to which the Company has the right to invoice and recognize as revenue. We believe that recognizing revenue based on actual stages
completed, upon receipt of a signed field ticket, appropriately depicts how our hydraulic fracturing services are transferred to our customers over time.
Manufacturing. We generate revenue through sales of equipment used to perform oilfield services. The performance obligation is satisfied and revenues are recognized at the
point-in-time that control of goods are transferred to the customer, generally upon shipment from our manufacturing facility. Payment terms are specified in each customer
agreement and are typically a specific number of days following satisfaction of the performance obligation.
Proppant production. We generate revenue through the sale of frac sand to oilfield service providers and E&P companies. The performance obligation is satisfied and revenue
is recognized at the point-in-time that control of the product is transferred to the customer, generally upon shipment from our facility. We charge our customers on a per-ton
basis at current market prices. Payment terms are specified in each customer agreement and are typically a specific number of days following satisfaction of the performance
obligation.
Taxes collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities are accounted for on a net basis and are therefore excluded from revenues in the consolidated
statements of operations.
Business Combinations
Business combinations are accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting. Under this method, the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognized at their
respective fair values as of the date of acquisition. The excess, if any, of the acquisition price over the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recorded as
goodwill. For significant acquisitions, we utilize third-party appraisal firms to assist us in determining the fair values for certain assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The
measurement of these fair values requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions which are inherently uncertain.
Adjustments to the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed are made until we obtain all relevant information regarding the facts and circumstances that existed as
of the acquisition date (the “measurement period”), not to exceed one year from the date of the acquisition. We recognize measurement-period adjustments in the period in
which we determine the amounts, including the effect on earnings of any amounts we would have recorded in previous periods if the accounting had been completed at the
acquisition date.
12
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See Note 14 — Acquisitions and investments for information on acquisitions completed during the historical period.
Goodwill
We have acquired goodwill related to business acquisitions. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired. We review our
goodwill on an annual basis, at the beginning of the fourth quarter, and whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of goodwill may exceed its fair
value. If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds its fair value, we recognize an impairment loss for this difference.
Variable Interest Entities
We evaluate our ownership, contractual and other interest in entities to determine if they are variable interest entities (“VIE”). We evaluate whether we have a variable interest
in those entities and the nature and extent of those interests. Based on our evaluation, if we determine we are the primary beneficiary of a VIE, we consolidate the entity in our
financial statements.
Fair value measurements
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at a
measurement date. We apply the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases of categorization within the
hierarchy upon the lowest level input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:
•

Level 1: The use of quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

•

Level 2: Other than quoted prices included in Level 1, inputs that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the
asset or liability. At June 30, 2022, we had no Level 2 measurements.

•

Level 3: The use of significant unobservable inputs that typically require the use of management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing.
See Note 16 — Fair Value of Financial Interests for more information on our investments using Level 3 measurements.

Our current assets and liabilities contain financial instruments, the most significant of which are trade accounts receivable and payable. We believe the carrying value of our
current assets and liabilities approximate fair value. Our fair value assessment incorporates a variety of considerations, including: (i) the short-term duration of the instruments
and (ii) our historical incurrence of and expectations of future bad debt expense. The book value of our floating rate debt approximates fair value because of its floating rate
structure.
Income taxes
Before May 12, 2022, the ProFrac Predecessor entities were organized as limited liability companies or a limited partnership and were treated as either a disregarded entity or a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, whereby the ordinary business income or loss and certain deductions were passed-through and reported on the members’
income tax returns. As such, the Company was not required to account for U.S. federal income taxes in the consolidated financial statements. Certain state income-based taxes
are imposed on the Company which are reflected as income tax expense or benefit in historical periods.
In connection with the IPO in May 2022, the Company reorganized and ProFrac LLC became partially owned by ProFrac Corp., a U.S. Internal Revenue Code Subchapter C
corporation (“C-Corporation”). ProFrac Corp. is a taxable entity and is required to account for income taxes under the asset and liability method for periods subsequent to May
12, 2022.
Under the asset and liability method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the
year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled pursuant to the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate is recognized in earnings in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are
established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts more-likely-than-not to be realized.
Recently adopted accounting standards
On January 1, 2022, we adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) for “Leases,” which amended existing guidance to
require lessees to recognize liabilities and ROU assets on the balance sheet for the rights and obligations created by long-term leases and to disclose additional quantitative and
qualitative information about leasing arrangements. We adopted this guidance using a modified retrospective approach on January 1, 2022 using the transition method that
allows a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption.
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We have completed our process to implement this standard, and we have designed processes and internal controls necessary for adoption of this standard. We have made policy
elections to (i) not capitalize short-term leases for all asset classes, (ii) not separate non-lease components from lease components for all of our existing asset classes, (iii) apply
the package of practical expedients that allows us to not reassess: whether any expired or existing contracts contain leases, lease classification for any expired or existing leases
and initial direct costs for existing leases and (iv) apply the practical expedient to apply hindsight in estimating lease term and impairment.
The impact of applying this standard is not expected to significantly impact our results of operations or cash flows. As of January 1, 2022, we recognized ROU assets and
liabilities of approximately $35.8 million from operating leases on our consolidated balance sheet. See Note 12 - Leases for additional disclosures related to our adoption this
accounting standards update.
New accounting standards to be adopted
We have not yet implemented FASB ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses. The ASU introduces a new accounting model, the Current Expected Credit
Losses model (“CECL”), which requires recognition of credit losses and additional disclosures related to credit risk. The CECL model utilizes a lifetime expected credit loss
measurement objective for the recognition of credit losses for loans and other receivables at the time the financial asset is originated or acquired. The expected credit losses are
adjusted each period for changes in expected lifetime credit losses. This model replaces the multiple existing impairment models previously used under GAAP, which generally
require that a loss be incurred before it is recognized. The new standard also applies to financial assets arising from revenue transactions such as contract assets and accounts
receivable.
Implementation is currently required for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022. The Company does not believe implementation will have a material impact on its
financial statements.
We have not yet implemented FASB ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740) – Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which removes specific exceptions to the
general principles in Topic 740 under GAAP. The new guidance also improves the application of income tax-related guidance and simplifies GAAP for franchise taxes that are
partially based on income, transactions with a government that result in a step up in the tax basis of goodwill, separate financial statements of legal entities that are not subject to
tax, and enacted changes in tax laws in interim periods. The new guidance will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2022; however, early adoption is permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting the new guidance on its
consolidated financial statements.

3. Restricted cash
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported within the consolidated statement of cash flows as of June 30, 2022, and
December 31, 2021:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the consolidated statements
of cash flows

December 31,
2021

$

73,653
2,101

$

5,376
—

$

75,754

$

5,376

As of June 30, 2022, restricted cash included cash used as collateral for our credit card program.

4. Supplemental balance sheet information
Inventories
The following table summarizes the components of our inventories as of June 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Raw materials and supplies
Work in process
Finished products and parts
Total

$

$
14

82,865
8,769
100,743
192,377

December 31,
2021

$

$

13,911
3,288
56,743
73,942
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The increase in inventory from December 31, 2021, to June 30, 2022 was partially due to acquired inventory of $54.5 million related to our acquisitions of FTS International,
Inc. (“FTSI”) and Flotek Industries, Inc. (“Flotek”). The remaining increase is related to our increased activity levels in 2022.
Accrued Expenses
The following table summarizes our accrued expenses as of June 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Accrual for purchased materials
Employee compensation and benefits
Sales, use, and property taxes
Interest
Income taxes
Tax receivable agreement
Tax distribution to redeemable noncontrolling interests
Other
Total

$

$

64,617
27,134
12,007
9,058
3,600
3,448
15,644
23,796
159,304

December 31,
2021

$

$

15,600
8,107
5,974
879
—
—
—
7,589
38,149

5. Property, plant, and equipment
The following table summarizes the components of our property, plant, and equipment, net as of June 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Machinery and equipment
Mining property and mine development
Office equipment, software and other
Land
Buildings and leasehold improvements
Total
Less: accumulated depreciation and depletion
Construction in progress
Property, plant, and equipment, net

$

$

1,070,672
48,464
14,303
950
24,587
1,158,976
(566,960 )
72,229
664,245

December 31,
2021

$

$

760,829
34,809
5,550
—
15,947
817,135
(464,178 )
10,730
363,687

The increase in net property, plant, and equipment from December 31, 2021, to June 30, 2022, was due to acquired assets of $328.7 million related to our FTSI and Flotek
acquisitions. This increase was partially offset by $48.2 million of FTSI assets sold in the sale lease-back transaction immediately following the FTSI acquisition.
Depreciation expense for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, was $63.6 million and $34.7 million, respectively. Depreciation expense for the six months ended
June 30, 2022 and 2021, was $107.8 million and $70.1 million, respectively.

Major classifications of property, plant, and equipment and their respective useful lives are as follows:
Machinery and equipment
Office equipment, software, and other
Buildings and leasehold improvements

2 years—10 years
3 years—7 years
2 years—40 years
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6. Intangible assets
The following table summarizes the components of our finite-lived intangible assets as of June 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021:

(In thousands)

Electric frac licenses
Acquired technology
Intangible assets, net

June 30, 2022
Less:
Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Book
Value

$
$

22,500
7,144
29,644

$
$

— $
(1,403 )
(1,403 ) $

Gross
Book
Value

Net Book
Value

22,500
5,741
28,241

$
$

22,500
5,905
28,405

December 31, 2021
Less:
Accumulated
Amortization

$

— $
(589 )
(589 ) $

$

Net
Book
Value

22,500
5,316
27,816

Intangible assets are amortized over the period the Company expects the asset to generate cash flows. As such, we amortize each electric frac license through the remaining
license period, beginning when the initial fleet built under each license is placed into service, a period we estimate to be 17 years. For technology acquired during 2021, we
estimated this period to be seven years. For technology acquired in 2022 related to the acquisition of FTSI, we estimated the period to bethree years. Amortization expense
related to intangible assets was $0.4 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets
was $0.8 million and $0.3 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

7. Indebtedness
The following table summarizes the components of our debt as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Old ABL Credit Facility
Old Term Loan
First Financial Loan
New ABL Credit Facility
New Term Loan Credit Facility
Best Flow Credit Facility(1)
Best Flow Note(1)
Alpine Promissory Note(1)
Flotek Convertible Notes
Other
Total gross debt
Less: unamortized debt issuance costs
Less: current portion of long-term debt
Total long-term debt

$

$

—
—
23,950
143,350
302,380
—
—
—
12,739
12,626
495,045
(15,755 )
(51,329 )
427,961

December 31,
2021

$

$

69,000
171,355
30,000
—
—
7,101
10,827
16,717
—
1,695
306,695
(5,129 )
(31,793 )
269,773

(1) Related party debt agreements
Old ABL Credit Facility
On March 14, 2018, ProFrac LLC entered into a senior secured asset-based revolving credit agreement (the “Old ABL Credit Facility”), with Barclays Bank PLC, as
administrative agent and collateral agent, and the lenders party thereto. The Old ABL Credit Facility had a maturity date of March 14, 2023.
LIBOR borrowings under the Old ABL Credit Facility bore interest at the greater of LIBOR or0.00%, plus a margin of 1.50% to 2.00%, depending on facility utilization. The
interest rate was 2.75% as of December 31, 2021.
As of December 31, 2021, the borrowing base was $146.2 million, therefore maximum availability under the Old ABL Credit Facility was the facility maximum of
$105.0 million. There were $69.0 million of borrowings outstanding and $3.1 million of letters of credit outstanding, resulting in $32.9 million of availability under the Old
Credit Facility ABL.
On March 4, 2022, the Old ABL Credit Facility was refinanced and replaced with the New ABL Credit Facility (as described below).
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Old Term Loan
On September 7, 2018, ProFrac LLC entered into a $180.0 million term loan agreement (“Old Term Loan”), which matures on September 15, 2023, with a group of lenders with
Barclays Bank, PLC as administrative agent. Principal payments are due in quarterly installments, however due to prepayments made to date, there will be no required minimum
amortization (other than excess cash flow prepayments) before termination of the Old Term Loan. Excess cash flow is calculated quarterly to determine any additional minimum
prepayments. On June 24, 2021, ProFrac LLC and its Old Term Loan lenders reached an agreement to expand the facility by $40.0 million.
The Old Term Loan, as amended, requires minimum excess cash flow prepayments as follows, each due approximately 55 days after period-end: $0.0 million for the fiscal
quarters ended March 31, 2021 through and including December 31, 2021, and $5.0 million for the fiscal quarters ended March 31, 2022 through and including June 30, 2023.
LIBOR borrowings under the Old Term Loan bear interest at the greater of LIBOR or1.25%, plus a margin of 6.25% to 8.50%, depending on the total net leverage ratio as
defined under the Old Term Loan. The interest rate was 9.75% as of December 31, 2021.
The Old Term Loan contained certain restrictive covenants, including a financial covenant which required ProFrac LLC to maintain a total net leverage ratio, as defined in the
credit agreement, of no greater than 2.25:1.00 for the fiscal quarters ended September 30, 2019 through and including March 31, 2020,3.50:1.00 for the fiscal quarters ended
June 30, 2020 through and including March 31, 2021, 3.00:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ended June 31, 2021,2.75:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ended September 30, 2021, 2.50:1.00
for the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2021, and 2.00:1.00 for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2022 and thereafter. ProFrac LLC was in compliance with all required
covenants as of December 31, 2021.
In February 2022, ProFrac and its Old Term Loan lenders entered into an agreement to amend the Old Term Loan. The amendment expanded the facility by $48.0 million.
On March 4, 2022, the Old Term Loan was extinguished resulting in loss on debt extinguishment of $3.9 million.
First Financial Loan
On July 22, 2020, ProFrac LLC entered into a $35.0 million loan agreement with First Financial Bank, N.A. which had a maturity of July 22, 2025 (“Main Street Loan”). In
August 2021, the loan agreement was amended to remove the covenants in place prior to the amendment. As amended, the Main Street Loan contained certain restrictive
covenants which required ProFrac LLC to maintain a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of at least 1.00:1.00, and a Maximum Leverage Ratio of 3.50:1.00. Additionally, the Main
Street Loan restricted the payment of distributions or dividends, other than for the payment of taxes.
On December 22, 2021, the Main Street Loan had a balance of $32.2 million. The Main Street Loan was extinguished with a cash payment of $2.2 million and the remainder
refinanced with a $30.0 million loan with First Financial Bank, N.A. (“First Financial Loan”).
The First Financial Loan has a maturity date of January 1, 2024 with an interest rate of LIBOR plus 3.5%, and the loan is to be repaid by equal payments of principal and
interest beginning in February 2022. The First Financial Loan contains certain restricted covenants which require the Company to maintain a fixed charge ratio of at least
1.00:1.00 and a maximum net leverage ratio of 3.00:1.00. The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2022.
New ABL Credit Facility
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC, ProFrac Holdings II, LLC (“ProFrac II LLC”), as borrower (in such capacity, the “ABL Borrower”), and certain of the ABL Borrower’s
wholly owned subsidiaries as obligors, entered into a senior secured asset-based revolving credit agreement (as amended, the “New ABL Credit Facility”), with a group of
lenders with JPMorgan Chase Bank N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent. The New ABL Credit Facility initially provided for an asset-based revolving credit
facility with a borrowing base and lender commitments of $100.0 million. On April 8, 2022, the New ABL Credit Facility was amended to increase the borrowing base and
lender commitments to $200.0 million. The New ABL Credit Facility has a borrowing base composed of certain eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory less
customary reserves, as redetermined monthly. As of June 30, 2022, the maximum availability under the New ABL Credit Facility was the aggregate lender commitments of
$200.0 million with $143.4 million of borrowings outstanding and $9.2 million of letters of credit outstanding, resulting in approximately $47.4 million of remaining
availability. The New ABL Credit Facility matures on the earlier of (i) March 4, 2027 and (ii) 91 days prior to the stated maturity of any material indebtedness (other than the
First Financial Loan).
Borrowings under the New ABL Credit Facility accrue interest based on a three-tier pricing grid tied to average historical availability, and the ABL Borrower may elect for
loans to be based on either an Adjusted Term SOFR or a base rate, plus the applicable margin.
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The interest rate under the New ABL Credit Facility for (a) Adjusted Term SOFR is the applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to Adjusted Term SOFR
(with an Adjusted Term SOFR Floor of 0.00%); and (b) Base Rate Loans are the applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to the greatest of the Prime Rate in
effect on such day, or the NYFRB Rate in effect on such day plus 1/2% of 1% and the Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month Interest Period as published two (2) U.S.
Government Securities Business Days prior to such day (or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day), plus 1.0%. The applicable margin for
Adjusted Term SOFR Loans ranges from 1.50% to 2.00% and for Base Rate Loans ranges from 0.50% to 1.00%, depending on the average daily availability over the last three
months under the New ABL Credit Facility. The New ABL Credit Facility bearsan unused line fee ranging from 0.250% to 0.375%, depending on the average daily availability
over the last three months payable quarterly in arrears. The New ABL Credit Facility also bears customary letter of credit fees. The interest rate was 5.50% as of June 30, 2022.
The New ABL Credit Facility is subject to customary mandatory prepayments, including a mandatory prepayment if the aggregate unpaid principal balance of revolving loans,
agent advances, swingline borrowings, unreimbursed drawings under letters of credit and the undrawn amount of outstanding letters of credit exceeds at any time the lesser of
(x) the then applicable borrowing base and (y) the then total effective commitments under the New ABL Credit Facility, in an amount equal to such excess. After the occurrence
and during the continuance of a Cash Dominion Period (defined in the New ABL Credit Facility as (a) any period commencing upon the date that availability shall have been
less than the greater of (i) 12.5% of the Maximum Credit (which is the lesser of the maximum revolver amount in effect at such time and the borrowing base at such time) and
(ii) $10.0 million for a period of five consecutive business days and continuing until the date on which availability shall have been at least the greater of (y)12.5% of the
Maximum Credit and (z) $10.0 million for 20 consecutive calendar days or (b) any period commencing on the occurrence of certain specified events of default, and continuing
during the period that such specified event of default shall be continuing).
The New ABL Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants. The negative covenants include, subject to
customary exceptions, limitations on indebtedness, dividends, distributions and certain other payments, investments, acquisitions, prepayments of specified junior indebtedness,
amendments of specified junior indebtedness, transactions with affiliates, dispositions, mergers and consolidations, liens, restrictive agreements, sale and leaseback transactions,
changes in fiscal periods and changes in line of business.
We are required by the New ABL Credit Facility to maintain minimum liquidity of $5.0 million at all times. Additionally, when availability is less than the greater of (i)12.5%
of the maximum credit (which is the lesser of the maximum revolver amount in effect at such time and the borrowing base at such time) and (ii) $10.0 million and continuing
until such time as availability has been in excess of such threshold for a period of 20 consecutive calendar days, we are required by the New ABL Credit Facility to maintain a
springing Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the New ABL Credit Facility) of at least 1.0 to 1.0, which is tested quarterly during such period. The Company was in
compliance with all covenants, and there were no existing defaults or events of default related to the New ABL Credit Facility as of June 30, 2022.
On July 25, 2022, the New ABL Credit Facility was amended to add an uncommitted $ 100.0 million incremental facility (the “Incremental Facility”), under the terms of which
existing lenders can make additional loans (in their sole discretion) under, or new lenders can join, the Incremental Facility and increase the potential size of the New ABL
Credit Facility from $200 million to $300 million, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. All other terms and conditions of the New ABL Credit Facility remained
substantially unchanged. See Note 19 – Subsequent Events.
New Term Loan Credit Facility
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC, ProFrac II, LLC, as borrower (in such capacity, the “Term Loan Borrower”), and certain of the Term Loan Borrower’s wholly owned
subsidiaries as obligors, entered into a senior secured term loan credit agreement (the “New Term Loan Credit Facility”), with Piper Sandler Finance LLC, as administrative
agent and collateral agent, and the lenders party thereto. The New Term Loan Credit Facility provides for a term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $450.0
million. In the second quarter of 2022, the New Term Loan Facility was paid down by $143.8 million with net proceeds from the IPO and an additional $3.8 million in
scheduled payments. As of June 30, 2022, the Term Loan Borrower had approximately $302.4 million outstanding under the New Term Loan Credit Facility. The New Term
Loan Credit Facility matures on March 4, 2025.
Borrowings under the New Term Loan Credit Facility accrue interest at a percentage per annum equal to (a) until October 1, 2022, (i) for SOFR Rate Loans,8.50%, and (ii) for
Base Rate Loans, 7.50% and (b) thereafter, based on a three-tier pricing grid tied to Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility), and the Term
Loan Borrower may elect for loans to be based on either Adjusted Term SOFR or Base Rate, plus the applicable margin. The interest rate on the New Term Loan Credit Facility
for (a) SOFR Rate Loans are the applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to Adjusted Term SOFR (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility), with a
SOFR floor of 1.00% and (b) Base Rate Loans are the applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to the highest of (i) the federal funds rate plus 1/2 of1%, (ii)
the interest rate quoted in the print edition of The
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Wall Street Journal, Money Rates Section, as the prime rate in effect, (iii) Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month interest period as determined on such day, plus1.0% and (iv)
2.00%.
The applicable margin for (a) SOFR Rate Loans ranges from6.50% to 8.00% and (b) Base Rate Loans ranges from 5.50% to 7.00%, depending on the Total Net Leverage Ratio
(as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) as of the first day of the then-current fiscal quarter. The interest rate was 10.0% as of June 30, 2022.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility is guaranteed by ProFrac LLC and all of the Term Loan Borrower’s material existing subsidiaries and certain direct and indirect future U.S.
restricted subsidiaries of the Term Loan Borrower. The New Term Loan Credit Facility is secured by a lien on, and security interest in, substantially all of each such guarantor’s
assets.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility is subject to quarterly amortization beginning in June 2022, though any excess cash flow payments, reduce the required amortization.
Additionally, the New Term Loan Credit Facility is subject to a quarterly mandatory prepayment beginning for the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2022, in an amount
equal to the Applicable ECF Percentage (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility). The Applicable ECF Percentage ranges from 50% of Excess Cash Flow (as defined
in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) to 25% of Excess Cash Flow depending on the Total Net Leverage Ratio as of the last day of the applicable fiscal quarter.
Voluntary prepayments of borrowings under the New Term Loan Credit Facility are permitted at any time, in specified minimum principal amounts, subject to reimbursement
of the lenders’ redeployment costs actually incurred in the case of a prepayment of SOFR Rate Loans other than on the last day of the relevant interest period. Between March
4, 2022 and March 4, 2023, certain prepayments of the New Term Loan Credit Facility are subject to a prepayment premium of 3.00% (or, in the case of any IPO Prepayment
(as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility), 2.00%). Between March 5, 2023 and March 4, 2024, certain prepayments of the New Term Loan Credit Facility are subject
to a 2.00% prepayment premium. After March 4, 2024, but prior to the Stated Termination Date (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) certain prepayments of the
New Term Loan Credit Facility are subject to a 1.00% prepayment premium. No payment or prepayment premium shall be due on account of any payments or prepayments
made on the Stated Termination Date.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants. The negative covenants include, subject
to customary exceptions, limitations on indebtedness, dividends, distributions and certain other payments, investments, capital expenditures, acquisitions, prepayments of
specified junior indebtedness, amendments of specified junior indebtedness, transactions with affiliates, dispositions, mergers and consolidations, liens, restrictive agreements,
changes in fiscal periods and changes in line of business.
We are required by the New Term Loan Credit Facility to maintain a Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) (i) of no more than2.00 to
1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending on June 30, 2022, (ii) of no more than 1.55 to 1.00 for the fiscal quarters ending on September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022, and (iii) of no
more than 1.25 for each fiscal quarter ending on March 31, 2023 and thereafter.
We are required by the New Term Loan Credit Facility to maintain minimum liquidity of $30.0 million at all times.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the lenders may declare all loans to be immediately
due and payable. Some events of default require an automatic termination of the loans and become immediately due and payable.
The Company was in compliance with all covenants, and there were no defaults or events of default related to the New Term Loan Credit Facility, as of June 30, 2022.
On July 25, 2022, the New Term Loan Facility was amended to increase the size of the New Term Loan Facility by $150.0 million with an uncommitted option to obtain
commitments for a potential additional $100.0 million of delayed draw loans before the earlier to occur of (i) the consummation of the Merger (as defined herein) and (ii) March
31, 2023. The maturity date of the New Term Loan Facility remains the same at March 4, 2025. The Company used a portion of the proceeds from the increased New Term
Loan Facility to fund the acquisition of Monahans (as defined herein) and anticipates using the remainder of the proceeds and operating cash to facilitate the Merger, pay
outstanding debt under the New ABL Credit Facility and/or for other general corporate purposes. See Note 19 – Subsequent Events.
Backstop Note
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC borrowed $22.0 million pursuant to a subordinated promissory note with THRC Holdings, LP (“THRC Holdings”) with a stated maturity date
of March 4, 2027 (the “Backstop Note”). The Backstop Note bears interest at a percentage per annum equal to1.74%. Interest under the Backstop Note is paid on a quarterly
basis and is solely payable in kind, with such interest amounts being added to the outstanding principal amount of the Backstop Note, until the date that both the New ABL
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Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility shall have been terminated, after which date quarterly interest payments may be paid in kind or in cash.
The Backstop Note is unsecured and subordinated to the indebtedness owing under the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility.
In June 2022, the Backstop Note was fully paid with net proceeds from the IPO.
Closing Date Note
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC borrowed $22.0 million pursuant to a subordinated promissory note with THRC Holdings with a stated maturity date ofMarch 4, 2027 (the
“Closing Date Note”). The Closing Date Note bears interest at a percentage per annum equal to 1.74%. Interest under the Closing Date Note is paid on a quarterly basis and is
solely payable in kind, with such interest amounts being added to the outstanding principal amount of the Closing Date Note, until the date that both the New ABL Credit
Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility shall have been terminated, after which date quarterly interest payments may be paid in kind or in cash.
The Closing Date Note is unsecured and subordinated to the indebtedness owing under the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility.
In June 2022, the Closing Date Note was fully paid with net proceeds from the IPO.
Equify Bridge Note
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac II LLC entered into a $45.8 million subordinated promissory note with Equify Financial with a stated maturity date ofMarch 4, 2027 (the “Equify
Bridge Note”). The Equify Bridge Note bears interest at a percentage per annum equal to 1.0%. Interest under the Equify Bridge Note is paid on a quarterly basis and is solely
payable in kind, with such interest amounts being added to the outstanding principal amount of the Equify Bridge Note, until the date that both the New ABL Credit Facility and
the New Term Loan Credit Facility shall have been terminated, after which date quarterly interest payments may be paid in kind or in cash. In April 2022, the Company repaid
$25.0 million in principal under the Equify Bridge Note.
The Equify Bridge Note is unsecured and subordinated to the indebtedness owing under the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility.
In April 2022, the Company repaid $25.0 million in principal under the Equify Bridge Note, resulting in an outstanding balance of $20.8 million. In June 2022, the Equify
Bridge Note was fully paid with net proceeds from the IPO.
Best Flow Credit Facility
On February 4, 2019, Best Flow entered into a revolving loan credit agreement (the “Best Flow Credit Facility”), with Equify Financial, LLC (“Equify Financial”) as lender.
Equify Financial is a related party. The Best Flow Credit Facility provided for a revolving credit facility in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding up to
$9.0 million, subject to borrowing base availability. The Best Flow Credit Facility had a maturity date ofFebruary 4, 2026.
The interest rate under the Best Flow Credit Facility was the lesser of (i) the Prime Rate (as defined in the Best Flow Credit Facility) plus the applicable margin3.50%)
(
and
(ii) the Maximum Rate (as defined in the Best Flow Credit Facility). All accrued but unpaid interest on the outstanding principal balance is due and payable monthly on the first
day of each calendar month. The Best Flow Credit Facility was secured by a first lien on substantially all of the assets of Best Flow.
On March 4, 2022, the Best Flow Credit Facility was extinguished resulting in loss of extinguishment of debt of $0.3 million.
Best Flow Note
On January 28, 2021, Best Flow issued a promissory note (the “Best Flow Note”), with Equify Financial, as holder. Equify Financial is a related party. The Best Flow Note
provided for a term loan in an initial aggregate principal amount equal to $13.0 million. Proceeds from the Best Flow Note were utilized to pay down $7.6 million of
outstanding balances on the Best Flow Credit Facility and to pay down other equipment financing agreements for $5.4 million. The Best Flow Note matures on February 1,
2026, with a fixed interest rate of 8.0%. The principal and interest are paid in equalmonthly amortizing amounts through maturity. Prepaid amounts are subject to a0.19%
prepayment premium.
20

Table of Contents
On March 4, 2022, the Best Flow Note was extinguished resulting in loss of extinguishment of debt of $1.4 million.
Alpine Promissory Note
In January 2021, Alpine entered into a $21.4 million promissory note with Equify Financial (“Alpine Note”). Equify Financial is a related party. The Alpine Note amortizes
monthly, had an interest rate of 8.0% and had a stated maturity date in February 2027.
On March 4, 2022, the Alpine Note was extinguished resulting in loss on extinguishment of debt of $1.8 million.
Flotek Convertible Notes
On February 2, 2022, Flotek entered into a private investment in public equity transaction (the “PIPE Transaction”) with a consortium of investors to secure growth capital.
Pursuant to the PIPE Transaction, Flotek issued $11.2 million in aggregate initial principal amount of convertible notes payable (“Flotek Convertible Notes”). The Flotek
Convertible Notes accrue paid-in-kind interest at a rate of 10% per annum, have a maturity of one year, and are convertible into common stock of Flotek (a) at Flotek’s option if
Flotek’s common stock equals or exceeds $2.50 for 20 trading days during a 30 consecutive trading day period, (b) at the holder’s option at any time prior to maturity, at a price
of $1.088125 per share or (c) at maturity, at a price of $1.088125 per share. On March 21, 2022, $3.0 million of Flotek Convertible Notes were converted at a holder’s option
into approximately 2.8 million shares of Flotek common stock. The Flotek Convertible Notes are obligations of Flotek and haveno recourse or claim against the assets of
ProFrac Corp. or its other consolidated subsidiaries.
At June 30, 2022, there was $8.2 million principal amount of Flotek Convertible Notes outstanding, which were included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements at
a carrying value of $12.3 million.
Other indebtedness
As of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021, the Company had other debt agreements outstanding with unpaid principal balances of $12.6 million and $1.7 million,
respectively. At June 30, 2022, other indebtedness included various equipment financing agreements of $6.8 million. In July 2022, we repaid $3.4 million under these
agreements and the remaining $3.4 million is due October 1, 2022 at an interest rate of 5.0% At June 30, 2022, other indebtedness also included a $4.8 million loan under the
Paycheck Protection Program established under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Securities Act held by Flotek.
The following table summarizes the principal maturity schedule for our long-term debt outstanding as of June 30, 2022:
2022

First Financial loan
New ABL Credit Facility
New Term Loan Credit Facility
Flotek Convertible Notes
Other.
Total

$

$

8,659
—
7,560
—
7,803
24,022

2023

$

$

15,291
—
15,120
12,739
1,908
45,058

2024

$

$

—
—
15,120
—
1,907
17,027

2025

$

$

—
—
264,580
—
543
265,123

2026

$

$

Thereafter

—
—
—
—
79
79

$

$

—
143,350
—
—
386
143,736

Total

$

$

23,950
143,350
302,380
12,739
12,626
495,045

8. Income taxes
Before May 12, 2022, the ProFrac Predecessor entities were organized as limited liability companies or a limited partnership and were treated as either a disregarded entity or a
partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes, whereby the ordinary business income or loss and certain deductions were passed-through and reported on the members’
income tax returns. As such, the Company was not required to account for U.S. federal income taxes in the consolidated financial statements. Certain state income-based taxes
are imposed on the Company which are reflected as income tax expense or benefit in historical periods. In connection with the IPO in May 2022, the Company reorganized and
ProFrac LLC became partially owned by ProFrac Corp., a C-Corporation. ProFrac Corp. is a taxable entity and is required to account for income taxes under the asset and
liability method for periods subsequent to May 12, 2022.
During the first six months of 2022, ProFrac LLC and its members completed the acquisition of FTSI, a C-Corporation. Through a series of transactions, ProFrac LLC obtained
ownership of all of the assets and liabilities of FTSI, but the FTSI C-Corporation legal entity was owned by the ProFrac LLC members. In connection with the IPO, the FTSI CCorporation legal entity merged with a subsidiary of ProFrac Corp., which inherited the tax attributes of the FTSI legal entity.
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As of June 30, 2022, the Company had approximately $158.3 million of net deferred tax assets. The deferred tax assets are driven by the outside basis difference between tax
and GAAP in the Company’s outside basis in ProFrac LLC (including $22.7 million subject to the Tax Receivable Agreement), generated by both the FTSI transaction and the
IPO. We have recorded a valuation allowance on the Company’s net deferred tax assets based on our assessment that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will
not be realized, with the exception of certain deferred tax assets that are expected to be utilized in the 2022 tax year of approximately $4.1 million. This valuation allowance
assessment is based on the cumulative losses incurred by the Company in recent years. A change in our assessment could cause a decrease to the valuation allowance, which
could materially impact our results of operations.
The Company’s effective tax rate (“ETR”) from continuing operations is expected to be4.9% for tax year 2022. After consideration of a 2.4% net state tax rate (inclusive of the
Texas Margin tax), the majority of the remaining difference between the federal corporate income tax rate of 21% and our effective tax rate is related to the income that is
earned within the financial statement consolidated group that is not subject to tax within the financial statement consolidated group. This is due to the Company not being
subject to tax prior to IPO, as well as the amount of post-IPO income that is attributable to the Class B shareholders. As such, the Company’s income tax expense for the six
months ended June 30, 2022 is $4.9 million.
ProFrac LLC is obligated to make cash distributions to PFH Unit holders to fund their respective income tax liabilities relating to their share of the income of ProFrac LLC. At
June 30, 2022, the Company recorded a liability for accrued distributions of $15.6 million to be made to redeemable noncontrolling interest holders to fund their estimated tax
payments.

9. Tax receivable agreement
In connection with our IPO, ProFrac Corp. entered into a tax receivable agreement (the “TRA”) with certain PFH Unit holders (the “TRA Holders”). The TRA generally
provides for payment by ProFrac Corp. to the TRA Holders of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax and franchise tax (computed using
simplifying assumptions to address the impact of state and local taxes) that ProFrac Corp. actually realizes (or is deemed to realize in certain circumstances) as a result of (i)
certain increases in tax basis that occur as a result of ProFrac Corp.’s acquisition (or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of such TRA
Holder’s PFH Units in connection with the IPO or the exercise of the Redemption Right (as defined in the TRA) or the Call Right (as defined in the TRA), and (ii) imputed
interest deemed to be paid by ProFrac Corp. as a result of, and additional tax basis arising from, any payments ProFrac Corp. makes under the TRA. ProFrac Corp. will be
dependent on ProFrac LLC to make distributions to ProFrac Corp. in an amount sufficient to cover ProFrac Corp.’s obligations under the TRA. ProFrac Corp. will retain the
benefit of the remaining 15% of any actual net cash tax savings. The payment obligations under the TRA are ProFrac Corp.’s obligations and not obligations of ProFrac LLC,
and we expect that the payments required to be made under the TRA could be substantial.
The term of the TRA commenced upon the completion of the IPO and will continue until all tax benefits that are subject to the TRA have been utilized or expired, unless we
experience a Change of Control (as defined in the TRA, which includes certain mergers, asset sales, or other forms of business combinations) or the TRA otherwise terminates
early (at our election or as a result of our breach or the commencement of bankruptcy or similar proceedings by or against us) and ProFrac Corp. makes the termination
payments specified in the TRA in connection with such Change of Control or other early termination. In the event that the TRA is not terminated, the payments under the TRA
could commence in 2023 and will continue for 15 years after the date of the last redemption of the PFH Units.
Payments will generally be made under the TRA as we realize actual cash tax savings from the tax benefits covered by the TRA. However, if we experience a Change of Control
or the TRA otherwise terminates early, ProFrac Corp.’s obligations under the TRA would accelerate and ProFrac Corp. would be required to make an immediate payment equal
to the present value of the anticipated future payments to be made by it under the TRA. We estimate that such an immediate payment could range up to more the $500 million.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to satisfy our obligations under the TRA.
Estimating the amount and timing of payments that may become due under the TRA is by its nature imprecise. For purposes of the TRA, net cash tax savings generally are
calculated by comparing ProFrac Corp.’s actual tax liability (determined by using the actual applicable U.S. federal income tax rate and an assumed combined state and local
income and franchise tax rate) to the amount ProFrac Corp. would have been required to pay had it not been able to utilize any of the tax benefits subject to the TRA. The actual
increases in tax basis covered by the TRA, as well as the amount and timing of any payments under the TRA, will vary depending on a number of factors, including the timing of
any redemption of PFH Units, the price of ProFrac Corp.’s Class A Common Stock at the time of each redemption, the extent to which such redemptions are taxable
transactions, the amount of the redeeming PFH Unit holder’s tax basis in its PFH Units at the time of the relevant redemption, the depreciation and amortization periods that
apply to the increase in tax basis, the amount and timing of taxable income we generate in the future, the U.S. federal income tax rates then applicable, and the
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portion of ProFrac Corp.’s payments under the TRA that constitute imputed interest or give rise to depreciable or amortizable tax basis.
We account for amounts payable under the TRA when we determine that a liability is probable and the amount is reasonably estimable. At June 30, 2022, the liability from the
TRA was $3.4 million.

10. Earnings per share
The numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) computations for our Class A Common Stock are calculated as follows:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Numerator:
Net income (loss)
Less: net (income) loss attributable to ProFrac Predecessor
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Less: net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to ProFrac Holding Corp.
Denominator:
Weighted average Class A shares used for basic EPS computation
Dilutive potential of employee restricted stock units
Weighted average Class A shares used for diluted EPS computation
Basic and diluted EPS - Class A Common Stock

$

$

70,093
(56,157 )
8,704
(16,082 )
6,558

$

40,123
22
40,145
0.16

$

$

(8,606 )
8,478
128
—
—

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

$

$

94,219
(79,867 )
8,288
(16,082 )
6,558

$

40,123
22
40,145
0.16

$

$

(34,595 )
34,476
119
—
—

11. Stock-based compensation
Stock-based Compensation Related to Deemed Contributions
In connection with the Company’s IPO, our majority shareholders, Farris Wilks (“Farris”) and Dan Wilks (“Dan”) (together with certain family members or entities they
control), sold PFH Units representing approximately 1% of the equity interest in ProFrac LLC to an entity controlled by our Chief Executive Officer, Ladd Wilks (“Ladd”), and
our Executive Chairman, Matt Wilks (“Matt”), respectively. These equity interests in ProFrac LLC entitled each of Ladd and Matt to 1,220,978 shares of Class B common stock
in ProFrac Corp. These units were sold in exchange for promissory notes. While some of the documentation relating to these transfers was subject to completion, we concluded
that both transactions were consummated in connection with the Company’s IPO and, for accounting purposes, should be treated in accordance with ASC Topic 718,
Compensation — Stock Compensation, as deemed contributions to the Company by Farris and Dan and grants of stock-based compensation to Ladd and Matt by the Company
similar to stock options. As no future service period was required and because the promissory notes are prepayable at any time, all related stock-based compensation expense
was recognized in the second quarter of 2022. The stock-based compensation expense was $33.7 million using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model with an average
contractual term of 16.5 years, a volatility rate of 64%, and a 0% dividend yield.
Also in connection with the IPO, Farris engaged in estate planning that may result, subject to other terms and conditions, in additional shares being transferred by Farris to Ladd
if the Company’s total market capitalization increases to certain target levels within the next five years, which resulted in a performance award being deemed granted by the
Company to Ladd. We concluded that this arrangement should be treated, for accounting purposes, in accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation,
as a deemed contribution to the Company by a related party and the grant of stock compensation with market conditions to Ladd by the Company.
Also at the time of the IPO, a performance award was granted which will result in additional shares being transferred if the Company’s total market capitalization increases to
certain target levels within the next five years, subject to other terms and conditions. We concluded that this arrangement should be treated, for accounting purposes, in
accordance with ASC Topic 718, Compensation — Stock Compensation, as a deemed contribution to the Company by a related party and the grant of stock compensation with
market conditions by the Company.
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The grant date fair value of this award was estimated to be $45.2 million and will be recognized over the estimated derived service period of approximately one year. The grant
date fair value and the derived service period of this award was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation method, which incorporates the possibility that the market
capitalization targets may not be satisfied. The Monte Carlo simulation is affected by a number of variables, including the fair value of our underlying common shares ($18.00
at grant date), the expected common share price volatility over the expected term (79.2%), the expected dividend yield of our common shares over the expected term 0( .0%), the
risk-free interest rates over the expected term (2.86%), and the performance period of the award (five years).
The derived service period for the award was determined based on the median vesting time for the simulations that achieved the vesting hurdle.Stock-based compensation
expense associated with this award will be recognized over the earlier of (i) the derived service period and (ii) the date on which the market condition is satisfied. Stock-based
compensation expense of $5.1 million was recognized in the second quarter of 2022. At June 30, 2022, there was $40.1 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related
to this award, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.0 years.
2022 Equity and Incentive Compensation Plan
In May 2022, the Company adopted the ProFrac Holding Corp. 2022 Long Term Incentive Plan (“2022 Plan”) to attract and retain officers, employees, directors, and other key
personnel and to provide those persons incentives and awards for performance. The 2022 Plan originally allocated 3,121 thousand shares of our Class A Common Stock in the
form of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units (“RSUs”), stock appreciation rights, or other stock-based awards. As of June
30, 2022, up to approximately 2,611 thousand shares were available for future grants under the 2022 Plan.
On May 24, 2022, the Company issued 509 thousand RSUs, which had a grant date fair value of $9.1 million. The RSUs were valued at $17.90 per share, the market price of
our Class A Common Stock on the date of grant. Awards granted vest from one to three years from the date of grant.
Stock-based compensation expense for the Company in the second quarter of 2022 for these RSUs was $0.9 million. The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of
RSUs granted was $17.90. The fair value of RSUs vested in the second quarter of 2022 waszero. At June 30, 2022, there was $8.2 million of total unrecognized compensation
cost related to unvested RSUs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.2 years.

12. Leases
Effective January 1, 2022, we adopted the new lease accounting guidance under ASC Topic 842, Leases. The details of the significant changes to our accounting policies
resulting from the adoption of the new lease standard are set out below. We adopted the standard using the optional modified retrospective transition method; accordingly, the
comparative information as of December 31, 2021, has not been adjusted and continues to be reported under the previous lease standard. Under the new standard, assets and
liabilities that arise from all leases are required to be recognized on the balance sheet for lessees. Previously, only capital leases, which are now referred to as finance leases,
were recorded on the balance sheet. The adoption of this standard resulted in the recognition of approximately $35.8 million of operating lease right-of-use assets and operating
lease liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet as of January 1, 2022. The adoption of this standard did not materially impact our consolidated results of operations for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2022.
Beginning January 1, 2022, for all leases with a term in excess of 12 months, we recognized a lease liability equal to the present value of the lease payments and right-of-use
asset representing our right to use the underlying asset for the lease term. For operating leases, lease expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
lease term and accretion of the lease liability, while finance leases (of which we have none) include both an operating expense and an interest expense component. For all leases
with a term of 12 months or less, we elected the practical expedient to not recognize lease assets and liabilities. We recognize lease expense for these short-term leases on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
We are a lessee for several operating leases, related primarily to real estate and light duty vehicles. The majority of our operating leases have remaining lease terms of10 years
or less. None of our leases include options to extend the leases, nor do any include options to terminate the leases. The accounting for leases may require judgment, which
includes determining the incremental borrowing rates to utilize in our net present value calculation of lease payments for lease agreements which do not provide an implicit rate.
In connection with the completion of the FTSI acquisition, FTSI conveyed to Wilks Development, LLC, an affiliate of ProFrac LLC, substantially all of FTSI’s owned real
property, consisting primarily of FTSI’s hydraulic fracturing equipment manufacturing facilities, in exchange for cash consideration of approximately $44.4 million (the “FTSI
Sale Leaseback”). We will lease such real property from Wilks Development, LLC in exchange for aggregate monthly lease payments of $51.6 million through March 2032.
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The cash consideration received was $3.7 million less than the carrying value of these assets. Because this sale was to an affiliateunder common control, we accounted for the
$3.7 million as an equity transaction recorded as a deemed distribution within our consolidated statements of changes in equity.
Our leasing activities primarily consist of operating leases for administrative offices, manufacturing and maintenance facilities along with some light duty vehicles. We do not
lease any equipment on a long-term basis.
The following table summarizes the components of our lease costs:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Operating lease costs
Short-term lease costs
Total lease costs

$
$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022

3,400
1,017
4,417

$
$

5,601
1,356
6,957

The following table includes other supplemental information for our operating leases:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022

(Dollars in thousands)

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of our lease obligations
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations
Right-of-use assets recognized upon adoption of the leasing standard
Weighted-average remaining lease term
Weighted-average discount rate

$
$
$

5,251
44,968
35,817
8.1 years
5.0 %

$

7,129
13,095
12,642
11,496
11,537
11,803
38,474
106,176
(21,619 )
84,557

The following table summarizes the maturity of our operating leases as of June 30, 2022:
(In thousands)

Remainder of 2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
2027
2028 and thereafter
Total lease payments
Less imputed interest
Total lease liabilities

$

13. Related party transactions
In the normal course of business, the Company has entered into transactions with related parties where the Wilks (or entities they control) hold a controlling financial interest.
During the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company had related party transactions with the following related party entities:
Automatize, LLC (“Automatize”) is a logistics broker that facilitates the last-mile delivery of proppants on behalf of its customers, including the Company. Amounts paid to
Automatize include costs passed through to third-party trucking companies and a commission retained by Automatize. These payments are recorded in cost of revenues,
exclusive of depreciation and depletion on our consolidated statements of operations.
Cisco Logistics, LLC (“Cisco Logistics”) is a logistics company that delivers sand and equipment on behalf of its customers, including the Company. Amounts paid to Cisco
Logistics are recorded in cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and depletion on our consolidated statements of operations.
Equify Risk Services, LLC (“Equify Risk”) is an insurance broker that negotiates and secures insurance policies on behalf of its customers, including the Company. Amounts
paid to Equify Risk are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of operations.
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Equify Financial, LLC (“Equify Financial”) is a finance company that provides equipment and other financing to its customers, including theCompany. Amounts paid to
Equify Financial are recorded in interest expenses on our consolidated statements of operations, and repayments of long-term debt on our consolidated statements of cash flows.
See Note 7—Indebtedness for additional disclosures related to related party credit agreements.
Wilks Brothers, LLC (“Wilks Brothers”) is a management company which provides administrative support to various businesses within its portfolio. Wilks Brothers and certain
entities under its control will at times incur expenses on behalf of the Company, billing the Company for these expenses at cost as well as certain management fees. Amounts
paid to Wilks Brothers are generally recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of operations.
Interstate Explorations, LLC (“Interstate”) is an exploration and development company for which the Company performs pressure pumping services, and from which the
Company has a short-term lease for certain office space.
Flying A Pump Services, LLC (“Flying A”) is an oilfield services company which provides pump down and acid services, to which the Company rents and sells equipment and
frac fleet components.
MC Estates, LLC, The Shops at Willow Park, and FTSI Industrial, LLC (collectively, the “Related Lessors”) own various industrial parks and office space leased by the
Company. Amounts paid to the Related Lessors are recorded in selling, general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of operations.
Wilks Construction Company, LLC (“Wilks Construction”) is a construction company that has built and made renovations to several buildings for the Company, including
construction of a new sand plant. Amounts paid to Wilks Construction are recorded in capital expenditures on our consolidated statements of cash flows.
3 Twenty-Three, LLC (“3 Twenty-Three”) is a payroll administrator which performs payroll services on behalf of its customers, including the Company. Amounts paid to 3
Twenty-Three are recorded in cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation and depletion and selling, general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of
operations.
Carbo Ceramics Inc. (“Carbo”) is a provider of ceramic proppant which will at times purchase conventional proppant from the Company to act as a broker for its customers.
Additionally, the Company will at times purchase manufactured proppant from Carbo for the stimulation services segment.
FHE USA LLC (“FHE”) is a provider of production and well completion equipment used at the wellsite. Its RigLock and FracLock systems remotely connect surface
equipment to the wellhead that keeps crews safer and speeds up operations while also reducing the volume of high-pressure iron. Amounts paid to FHE are recorded in capital
expenditures on our consolidated statements of cash flows.
The following table summarizes expenditures with related parties for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Automatize
FHE
Wilks Brothers
Related Lessors
Wilks Construction
Equify Financial
3 Twenty-Three
Carbo
Cisco Logistics
Interstate
Equify Risk
Other
Total

$

$
26

35,576
4,027
8,542
3,425
12,448
301
—
78
—
—
—
82
64,479

$

$

18,512
—
1,953
1,577
—
—
—
—
160
24
—
42
22,268

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

$

$

49,851
7,277
8,799
4,648
13,389
986
247
78
—
20
—
120
85,415

$

$

31,268
—
4,507
3,115
—
—
—
353
424
32
3
52
39,754
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The following table summarizes related party accounts payable as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Automatize
Wilks Brothers
Wilks Construction
Cisco Logistics
Carbo
Related Lessors
Other
Total

$

December 31,
2021

18,013
13,518
5,545
27
455
19
0
37,577

$

$

11,198
9,990
57
—
10
1
19
21,275

$

The following table summarizes revenue from related parties for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Flying A
Carbo
Wilks Brothers
Interstate
Other
Total

$

$

548
504
2
—
1
1,055

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

1,177
159
7
111
25
1,479

$

$

1,920
753
3
—
1
2,677

$

$

$

2,128
179
5
111
34
2,457

The following table summarizes related party accounts receivable as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Flying A
Cisco Logistics
Carbo
Interstate
Other
Total

$

$

December 31,
2021

1,438
1,493
255
310
141
3,637

$

$

2,412
1,489
591
—
23
4,515

Additionally, in January and February of 2021, ProFrac LLC executed two agreements with one of ProFrac LLC’s members for the sale of certain lots of equipment, in
exchange for $8.7 million in cash, an amount that approximates the net book value of the assets. Under these agreements, for any assets subsequently resold by the member,
ProFrac LLC will reimburse the member for a certain percentage of the net loss, or conversely be entitled to a certain percentage of the net gain, at rates established in the
agreements. As of June 30, 2022, the majority of the assets have been sold by the member, and ProFrac LLC’s remaining liability of approximately $0.2 million for assets that
have not been resold has been recorded.
On February 4, 2022, THRC Holdings entered into a Rights Agreement with Encantor Properties LP, one of the sellers from whom the Company purchased the Munger Ranch
property, under which the related party was assigned rights to $8.1 million of the $30.0 million in consideration related to the Munger purchase. As part of the IPO completed in
May 2022, the sellers of Munger Ranch were issued 2,114,273 shares of Class A Common Stock in exchange for the $30.0 million consideration related to the Munger Ranch
purchase.

14. Acquisitions and investments
FTS International, Inc.
On March 4, 2022, the Company acquired the outstanding stock of FTSI for a purchase price of $405.7 million, consisting of cash consideration of $332.8 million, and THRC
Holdings’ equity interest of $72.9 million (“THRC FTSI Related Equity”).
Immediately following the closing of the cash acquisition pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of October 21, 2021, by and among FTSI, ProFrac LLC and
ProFrac Acquisitions, Inc. (the “FTSI Merger Agreement”), ProFrac LLC distributed the
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80.5% of the FTSI equity it acquired in such merger to Farris Wilks and THRC Holdings in a manner that resulted in each of them owning50% of FTSI (the “FTSI
Distribution”), with THRC Holdings receiving a smaller share of the FTSI Distribution and instead retaining certain preferred equity in ProFrac LLC in lieu of its redemption in
connection with such distribution. The THRC FTSI Related Equity was the result of a transaction whereby THRC Holdings, which owned approximately 19.5% of FTSI, agreed
to retain that interest in FTSI in lieu of receiving cash pursuant to the FTSI Merger Agreement.
We have accounted for the acquisition of FTSI using the acquisition method of accounting. We used our best estimates and assumptions to assign fair value to the tangible and
intangible assets expected to be acquired and liabilities expected to be assumed at the acquisition date. The majority of the measurements of assets acquired and liabilities
assumed, are based on inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represent Level 3 inputs.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the purchase price:
(In thousands)

Assets acquired:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expense and other assets
Inventories
Property, plant and equipment
Operating lease ROU asset
Intangible assets
Other assets
Total assets acquired
Liabilities assumed:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Operating lease liability current
Current portion of debt
Other current liabilities
Operating lease liability non-current
Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Net assets acquired

$

$

53,771
89,268
4,037
42,344
307,113
2,748
1,239
1,583
502,103
62,985
19,308
1,235
10,136
309
1,512
928
96,413
405,690

The allocation of the purchase price to FTSI’s net tangible assets and liabilities and identifiable intangible assets as of March 4, 2022, is preliminary and subject to revisions to
the fair value calculations for the identifiable assets and liabilities. The determination and allocation of the purchase consideration are subject to change during the measurement
period, up to one year from the date the acquisition closed.
For the three months ended March 31, 2022, our revenues and pretax earnings included $48.6 million and $0.1 million loss, respectively, associated with the FTSI acquired
operations after the closing on March 4, 2022. In addition, FTSI acquisition-related costs of approximately $3.7 million were incurred during the three months ended March 31,
2022, consisting of external legal and consulting fees. These costs are classified in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
Additionally, we incurred $9.3 million in severance costs in connection with the FTSI acquisition, which are classified in selling, general and administrative expense in the
consolidated statements of operations. Throughout the second quarter of 2022, we integrated FTSI’s operations. As a result, we track all stimulation services assets as one group
and it would be impracticable to separately report FTSI revenues or pretax earnings subsequent to March 31, 2022.
Flotek Industries, Inc.
On February 2, 2022, we entered into an agreement with Flotek Industries, Inc. (“Flotek”), pursuant to which Flotek will provide full downhole chemistry solutions for a
minimum of ten hydraulic fleets for three years starting on April 1, 2022, at a price of cost plus7% (“Flotek Supply Agreement”). In exchange for entry into the Flotek Supply
Agreement, we received $10 million in initial principal amount of Flotek Convertible Notes and acquired an additional $10 million in principal amount of Flotek Convertible
Notes in the PIPE Transaction. Our equity ownership in Flotek on a fully diluted basis as a result of this investment is approximately 17%. In addition, we received the right to
designate up to two directors to Flotek’s board of directors.
On February 16, 2022, we and Flotek agreed to amend the Flotek Supply Agreement to increase the term toten years and increase the scope to 30 fleets. In exchange for our
entry into the amendment to the Flotek Supply Agreement (the “Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment”), Flotek agreed to issue us $50 million in initial principal amount of
Flotek Convertible Notes that will be convertible into Flotek common stock. The Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment and issuance to us of additional Flotek Convertible
Notes were conditioned upon customary closing conditions including the approval of Flotek’s shareholders. In May 2022, the Flotek shareholders approved the Convertible
Notes issuance and the Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment. Our equity ownership in Flotek on a fully diluted basis after the consummation of these transactions is
approximately 43%, and we are permitted to designate two additional directors, or up to four directors to Flotek’s board of directors. Because of our power to appoint directors
to the board of directors without a direct equity interest in Flotek, we determined that Flotek is a VIE. We further determined that the Company is the primary beneficiary of the
VIE, primarily due to our ability to appoint four of seven directors to Flotek’s board of directors. As a result, subsequent to May 17, 2022, we have accounted for this
transaction as a business combination using the acquisition method of
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accounting and Flotek’s financial statements have been included in our consolidated financial statements from May 17, 2022. As we had no direct equity interest in Flotek
during the three months ended June 30, 2022, we allocated 100% of Flotek’s loss to noncontrolling interests in our consolidated financial statements.
The Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment includes a minimum annual volume commitment whereby we will be obligated to pay Flotek liquidated damages equal to 25% of the
shortfall for such year, should we fail to meet the minimum purchase amount. At May 17, 2022, we had a supply agreement contract liability of $9.9 million, which was
included as purchase consideration for Flotek as a settlement of a pre-existing relationship. All effects of the Supply Agreement have been eliminated from our consolidated
financial statements subsequent to May 17, 2022.
The notes issued to ProFrac accrue paid-in-kind interest at a rate of10% per annum, have a maturity of one year, and convert into common stock of Flotek (a) at the holder’s
option at any time prior to maturity, at a price of $1.088125 per share, (b) at Flotek’s option, if the volume-weighted average trading price of Flotek’s common stock equals or
exceeds $2.50 for 20 trading days during a 30 consecutive trading day period, or (c) at maturity, at a price of $0.8705 (the “Convertible Notes”). We initially recognized the
Convertible Notes with an initial principal balance of $20 million at $20 million. At May 17, 2022, we estimated the fair value of these Convertible Notes to be $30.2 million,
which was included as purchase consideration for Flotek as a settlement of a pre-existing relationship. All effects of the Flotek Convertible Notes have been eliminated from our
consolidated financial statements subsequent to May 17, 2022.
Before May 17, 2022, we designated our investment in the Flotek Convertible Notes as trading securities. Securities designated as trading securities are reported at fair value,
with gains or losses resulting from changes in fair value recognized in net investment income on the consolidated statements of operations. For the period from February 2, 2022
through May 17, 2022 we recognized noncash income of $10.2 million as other (expense) income on our consolidated statements of operations related to the change in fair
value of the Flotek Convertible Notes.
In June 2022, Flotek issued and sold to ProFrac II LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of ProFrac LLC, pre-funded warrants to purchase from Flotek up to approximately13.1
million shares of Flotek common stock at any time and at an exercise price equal to $0.0001 per share, in exchange for $19.5 million in cash. ProFrac II LLC and its affiliates
may not receive any voting or consent rights in respect of these warrants or the underlying shares unless and until (i) Flotek has obtained approval from a majority of its
shareholders excluding ProFrac II LLC and its affiliates and (ii) ProFrac II LLC has paid an additional $4.5 million to Flotek. We entered into this transaction to provide
additional working capital to Flotek to enable it to perform under the Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment. These pre-funded warrants have been eliminated from our
consolidated financial statements.
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The following table summarizes the preliminary allocation of the fair value of Flotek’s assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interest:
(In thousands)

Settlement of pre-existing relationships
Accounts payable
Supply Agreement contract liability
Fair value of previously held interest in 10% Convertible PIK Notes
Settlement of pre-existing relationships
Assets acquired
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Assets held for sale
Other current assets
Property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Deferred tax assets
Goodwill
Other long-term assets
Total assets acquired
Liabilities assumed:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities
Long-term debt
Other liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
Noncontrolling interests
Assets acquired less liabilities assumed and noncontrolling interests

$

(2,713 )
(9,874 )
30,220
17,633

$
$

21,725
40
18,853
12,210
1,805
3,405
21,551
3,884
282
82,340
17
166,112
24,203
7,394
79
17,101
85
48,862
99,617
17,633

$

We used our best estimates and assumptions to assign fair value to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. The majority of the
measurements of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, are based on inputs that are not observable in the market and thus represent Level 3 inputs. The fair value of the
noncontrolling interest was based on the Flotek common stock price reported by the New York Stock Exchange at the date of the acquisition, which represented Level 1 inputs.
No portion of the recorded goodwill is tax deductible.
For the three months ended June 30, 2022, our revenues and pretax earnings included $6.1 million and $8.5 million loss, respectively, associated with the Flotek acquired
operations after May 17, 2022.
The allocation of the purchase price to Flotek’s net tangible assets and liabilities and identifiable intangible assets as of May 17, 2022, is preliminary and subject to revisions to
the fair value calculations for the identifiable assets and liabilities. The determination and allocation of the purchase consideration are subject to change during the measurement
period, up to one year from the date the acquisition closed.
The following unaudited pro forma results of operations have been prepared as though the FTSI and Flotek acquisitions had been completed on January 1, 2021. Pro forma
amounts are based on the purchase price allocation of the significant acquisition and are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be reported in the future.
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Revenue
Net income (loss)

$
$
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596,774
66,662

$
$

283,811
(34,189 )

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

$
$

1,030,161
50,203

$
$

541,074
(92,743 )
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Agreement to Acquire U.S. Well Services, Inc.
As previously disclosed in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 24, 2022 (the “USWS Merger 8-K”), on June 21, 2022, the Company entered
into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, U.S. Well Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“USWS”), and Thunderclap
Merger Sub I, Inc., a Delaware corporation and an indirect subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”). The Merger Agreement provides for, among other things, the merger of
Merger Sub Inc. with and into USWS, with USWS surviving the merger as the surviving corporation and an indirect subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”).
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time and as a result of the Merger, each share of Class A Common Stock of USWS, par value
$0.0001 per share (the “USWS Common Stock”), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will be cancelled and converted automatically
into the right to receive 0.3366 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock.
The acquisition is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2022, subject to the satisfaction of customary closing conditions, including the approval of USWS
stockholders, as described in the USWS Merger 8-K.
Based on the closing price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock (as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market) of $21.49 per share on June 21, 2022, the last trading
day prior to announcement of the Merger Agreement, the transaction represents aggregate stock consideration of approximately $93 million and a consideration per share of
USWS Common Stock of $7.23, after giving effect to USWS’ recent 1-for-6 reverse stock split. After giving effect to the conversions of certain securities of USWS, as
described in the USWS Merger 8-K, the total stock consideration payable to USWS stockholders and holders of USWS equity awards, based on the Company’s Class A
Common Stock June 21, 2022 closing price, would be approximately $270 million. In addition, the Company will assume approximately $55 million of USWS’ outstanding
indebtedness and repay approximately $170 million of USWS debt expected to be outstanding at closing. We anticipate that the total consideration to be paid in connection with
the closing of the Merger will be funded through the New Term Loan Credit Facility and/or the New ABL Credit Facility, available cash, additional loans and/or notes and cash
flows generated from operations.
Dan Wilks and Farris Wilks, together with certain of their affiliates, (collectively, the “Wilks Parties”) collectively hold a controlling interest in the Company. Certain Wilks
Parties also own certain securities of USWS. Upon the consummation of the Merger, the Wilks Parties will receive an aggregate of 4,112,407 shares of the Company’s Class A
Common Stock as merger consideration (assuming, solely for the purpose of this calculation, a hypothetical closing date of October 31, 2022), which, based on the Company’s
Class A Common Stock June 21, 2022 closing price, would be approximately $88.4 million.
The consummation of the Merger is subject to customary conditions, including, among others, (a) receipt of the approval of the stockholders of USWS, (b) the absence of any
applicable law or order prohibiting the consummation of the Merger or the issuance of Company stock in connection with the Merger, (c) the expiration or termination of the
HSR Act waiting period (which has been satisfied), (d) the effectiveness of the registration statement in connection with the Merger, (e) approval of the issuance of Company
stock in connection with the Merger for listing on Nasdaq, (f) subject to certain exceptions, the accuracy of the representations and warranties of each party, (g) the performance
in all material respects of each party of its obligations under the Merger Agreement and (h) the absence of a material adverse effect on the Company and USWS.
The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for both the Company and USWS and further provides that, upon termination of the Merger Agreement under
specified circumstances, USWS may be required to pay the Company a termination fee of $8.0 million or reimburse the Company for certain expenses in an amount up to $3.0
million, in each case, depending on the termination event.
Basin Production and Completion LLC
During the year ended December 31, 2021, the Company purchased Series B-1 Preferred Units of Basin Production and Completion LLC (“BPC”), a manufacturer of
equipment used in hydraulic fracturing for $4.2 million. This comprises approximately 20% of the BPC Series B Preferred Units. As of December 31, 2021, we did not exercise
significant influence over this entity. As we determined this to be an equity security, we initially recorded our investment at cost, presented as “Investments” in our
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021.
On February 9, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement to purchase all the series A-1 and B-1 preferred units of BPC for $46.0 million (“Basin Units Acquisition”),
consisting of $40.0 million to BPC for series A-1 and B-1 preferred units and $6.0 million to selling holders of BPC series B-1 preferred units. Additionally, on February 14,
2022, the Company made a loan to FHE, a subsidiary of BPC for $1.25 million. The loan bears interest at the rate of5% per annum. Interest is either paid at each calendar
quarter end or added to the principal balance at the election of BPC. The loan matures on February 14, 2027.
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Subsequent to February 9, 2022, our investments in BPC provide the Company the ability to have significant influence, but not control over BPC’s operations. BPC's business
and affairs are managed under the direction of its board of directors, which the Company does not control. Based on our evaluation, we determined that BPC is a VIE, but the
Company is not the primary beneficiary of the VIE. We have elected the fair value option to account for our equity method investment in BPC. See Note 16 — Fair Value of
Financial Interests for more information on our investments using Level 3 measurements. At June 30, 2022, the estimated fair value of these investments in BPC was $49.8
million.
EKU
On December 22, 2020, the Company purchased a 25% stake in EKU, an equipment manufacturer based in Germany, for $1.2 million. For the year ended December 31, 2020,
we accounted for this investment using the equity method as we had significant influence over EKU, and held a voting interest of 20% or greater, but less than 50%. In January
2021, the Company obtained a controlling interest in EKU, the results of which are consolidated thereafter.
The Company obtained a 75% controlling interest in EKU in January 2021 and performed a purchase price allocation in conjunction with the consolidation of this subsidiary.
We recognized net working capital of $2.5 million, property, plant and equipment of $0.4 million, intangible assets of $3.5 million and debt of $1.4 million at estimated fair
value. In consolidation, we eliminated our investment in associate, recognized equity of $3.7 million for the value of our 75% interest, and noncontrolling interest of $1.2
million for the value of the minority shareholder positions. See Note 6 – Intangible Assets for additional information related to the recognized intangible assets.
Munger Ranch
The Company entered into an agreement to acquire property in West Texas (“Munger Right Agreement”) in November 2021 for a purchase price of $30.0 million. Under the
Munger Right Agreement, the sellers were given the option to receive the consideration in cash, or in the event of an IPO prior to November 17, 2022, in equity, at the sellers’
election. Under the equity option, in the event the Company completes an IPO, the sellers would be entitled to 1.5% of the outstanding shares of common stock immediately
following the IPO. Each seller ultimately elected the equity option, as such this was a non-cash transaction for the Company for the year ended December 31, 2021.
The Munger Right Agreement includes a ‘Make Whole’ provision. Under the Make Whole provision, if any seller liquidates100% of the shares of our Class A Common Stock
they are issued prior to the one-year anniversary of the IPO and the value of the shares sold does not equal such seller’s share of the $30.0 million purchase price, then the
Company will pay the difference between the amount of cash the seller would have received had they elected the cash option and the amount they ultimately received upon the
sale of the Class A shares issued under the equity option. This Make Whole provision is accounted for as a written put option with a fair value of $4.0 million as of June 30,
2022 and is presented within Other Current Liabilities in our Balance Sheet. The acquired property was treated as an asset acquisition and not an acquisition of a business, and is
presented within Property, plant, and equipment in our consolidated balance sheets.
On February 4, 2022, THRC Holdings entered into a Rights Agreement with Encantor Properties LP, one of the sellers from whom the Company purchased the Munger Ranch
property, under which the related party was assigned rights to $8.1 million of the $30.0 million in consideration related to the Munger Ranch purchase.
As part of the IPO completed in May 2022, the Company issued2,114,273 shares of Class A Common Stock worth $38.1 million as consideration for the Munger Ranch
purchase.
iO-TEQ, LLC
The Company acquired iO-TEQ, LLC (“IOT”) in October 2021 for $2.2 million and performed a purchase price allocation at the acquisition date. We recognized net working
capital of $0.2 million, property, plant and equipment of $0.1 million, intangible assets of $2.4 million and debt of $0.4 million at estimated fair value. See Note 6 – Intangible
Assets for additional information related to the recognized intangible assets.
Best Flow minority interests
In December 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with Eagleton Venture, Inc. (“Eagleton”) to purchase Eagleton’s15.172% interest in Best Flow for a purchase price
of $3.9 million, which the company paid in cash, during the three months ended March 31, 2022.
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15. Goodwill
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by reportable segment were as follows for the six months ended June 30, 2022.
Stimulation
services

Balances at December 31, 2021
Acquisition of Flotek
Balances at June 30, 2022

$
$

Proppant
production

Manufacturing

—
—
—

$
$

—
—
—

$
$

Other

—
—
—

$

—
82,340
82,340

$

Total

$
$

—
82,340
82,340

16. Fair value of financial instruments
Assets and liabilities recorded on a recurring basis in the balance sheets are categorized based upon the level of judgment associated with the inputs used to measure their fair
values.
The Company’s financial instruments and investments that are carried at fair value consist mainly of Level 3 assets. Level 3 assets that have been measured on a recurring basis
during 2022 relate to the Company’s investments in (i) Convertible Notes of Flotek, designated as trading securities up to the acquisition date of Flotek and (ii) the equity
method investment in BPC, for which we elected the fair value option, as described in Note 14 – Acquisitions and investments for disclosure of the terms of these investments.
The Company did not have any assets or liabilities measured at fair value using Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy at June 30, 2022. We hadno Level 2 or Level 3 assets or
liabilities as of December 31, 2021.
The estimated fair value of the BPC investment as of June 30, 2022 was determined using a combination of the market and income approaches.
The following table sets forth the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Level 3
BPC Investment
Total

49,752
49,752

$

The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances for assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) from
inception to June 30, 2022:
(In thousands)

Level 3
Fair value as of January 1, 2022
Acquisition of Flotek Convertible Notes
Acquisition of investment in BPC
Transfer of cost method investment to Level 3 fair value measurement
Change in fair value of Level 3 fair value measurements
Fair value as of March 31, 2022
Change in Flotek fair value up to acquisition date
Elimination of Flotek convertible notes at acquisition date
Change in BPC fair value
Fair value as of June 30, 2022

$

$

$

—
20,000
47,202
4,244
8,100
79,546
2,120
(30,220 )
(1,694 )
49,752

The estimated fair value of the Flotek Convertible Notes prior to our consolidation of Flotek on May 17, 2022 was valued using a Monte Carlo simulation with inputs such as
the market trading price of the Flotek’s common stock, the expected volatility of the Flotek’s stock price based on historical trends, a risk-free rate of interest based on US
Treasury note rates and the term of the debt, the time to liquidation based on the maturity date of the notes, and a discount rate adjusted based on the credit risk of Flotek.
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The key inputs into the Monte Carlo simulation used to estimate the fair value the Convertible Notes were as follows:
May 17,
2022

Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Term until liquidation (years)
Stock price

$

March 31,
2022

1.82 %
90.0 %
0.72
1.29

$

1.63 %
90.0 %
0.84
1.26

17. Commitments and contingencies
Litigation
In the ordinary course of business, we are the subject of, or party to a number of pending or threatened legal actions and administrative proceedings arising in the ordinary
course of our business. While many of these matters involve inherent uncertainty, we believe that, other than as described below, the amount of the liability, if any, ultimately
incurred with respect to proceedings or claims will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position as a whole or on our liquidity, capital resources or
future annual results of operations.
Patterson v. FTS International Manufacturing, LLC and FTS International Services, LLC: On June 24, 2015, Joshua Patterson filed a lawsuit against the Company in the 115th
Judicial District Court of Upshur County, Texas, alleging, among other things, that the Company was negligent with respect to an automobile accident in 2013. Mr. Patterson
sought monetary relief of more than $1 million. On July 19, 2018, a jury returned a verdict of approximately $100 million, including punitive damages, against the Company.
The trial court reduced the judgment on November 12, 2018, to approximately $33 million. The Company’s insurance carriers appealed and the Twelfth Court of Appeals
reversed the verdict in its entirety on August 26, 2020, remanding the case for a new trial. The Company’s insurance carriers are currently appealing one of the appellate
findings with the Texas Supreme Court. No new trial date has been set. While the outcome of this case is uncertain, the Company has met its insurance deductible for this
matter and we do not expect the ultimate resolution of this case to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements.
Lonestar Prospects, Ltd. d/b/a Vista Sand v. ProFrac Services, LLC: ProFrac Services, LLC (“ProFrac Services”) entered into a Master Purchase Agreement For Products
And/Or Services with Lonestar Prospects, Ltd. d/b/a Vista Sand (“Vista”), dated November 27, 2017 (the “Vista MSA”), as amended by the First Addendum to Vista MSA and
the First Amendment to Vista MSA, both of which are dated June 10, 2018 (collectively, the “Vista Agreement”). Under the terms of the Vista Agreement, ProFrac Services
agreed to purchase certain quantities of sand from Vista. Vista filed a complaint against ProFrac Services in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of
Texas on March 15, 2021, in which it alleges that ProFrac Services breached the terms of the Vista Agreement by failing to purchase the required amount of sand or pay for the
underpurchased amounts as required by the Vista Agreement. Vista is seeking damages of approximately $8.31 million. Vista and ProFrac Services have entered into a mutually
agreed upon Scheduling Order signed by the Court on February 12, 2022. Trial docket call for this matter is currently scheduled for September 6, 2022.
We estimate and provide for potential losses that may arise out of legal proceedings and claims to the extent that such losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated.
Significant judgment is required in making these estimates and our final liabilities may ultimately be materially different from these estimates. When preparing our estimates,
we consider, among other factors, the progress of each legal proceeding and claim, our experience and the experience of others in similar legal proceedings and claims, and the
opinions and views of legal counsel. Legal costs related to litigation contingencies are expensed as incurred.

18. Segment information
Our business has three reportable segments: Stimulation services, Manufacturing and Proppant production. Each reportable segment represents a separate business unit that
operated as a standalone company prior to the reorganization of the Company in December 2021. Following the reorganization, each reportable segment continues to have
distinct management and prepares discrete financial information for the segment (consistent with when each operated as a standalone business). FTSI is part of our stimulation
services segment. Amounts in the other category reflect our business activities that are not separately reportable, which only included Flotek for the periods presented. Our chief
operating decision makers review the discrete segment financial information, including Adjusted EBITDA as the measure of profitability, to evaluate the performance of our
segments and make resource allocation decisions.
We account for intersegment transactions as if the transactions were with third parties, that is, at estimated current market prices. For the three and six months ended June 30,
2022 and 2021, intersegment revenues for the manufacturing segment were 92% and 88% and
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88% and 87%, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, intersegment revenues for the proppant production segment were64% and 44% and
66% and 38%, respectively.
The performance of our segments is evaluated primarily on Adjusted EBITDA. We define Adjusted EBITDA as our net income (loss), before (i) interest expense, net, (ii)
income tax provision, (iii) depreciation, depletion and amortization, (iv) loss on disposal of assets, and (v) stock-based compensation, and (vi) other unusual or non-recurring
charges, such as costs related to our initial public offering, non-recurring supply commitment charges, certain bad debt expense and gain on extinguishment of debt.
Segment information, and a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA, for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Revenues
Stimulation services
Manufacturing
Proppant production
Other
Total segments
Eliminations
Total
Adjusted EBITDA
Stimulation services
Manufacturing
Proppant production
Other
Adjusted EBITDA for reportable segments
Interest expense, net
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Income tax benefit (provision)
Loss on disposal of assets, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Litigation accrual
Stock compensation expense
Stock compensation expense related to deemed contributions
Bad debt expense, net of recoveries
Loss on foreign currency transactions
Reorganization costs
Acquisition related expenses
Unrealized gain on investments, net
Net income (loss)

$

$
$

$

576,556
34,854
17,531
15,359
644,300
(54,456 )
589,844

$

196,088
9,360
12,574
(7,454 )
210,568
(13,451 )
(64,064 )
(4,112 )
(2,143 )
(8,822 )
(4,000 )
(1,455 )
(38,849 )
—
58
—
(4,063 )
426
70,093

$

$

$

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

168,506
16,223
7,781
—
192,510
(17,691 )
174,819

$

30,475
349
3,246
—
34,070
(6,187 )
(34,904 )
283
(1,868 )
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(8,606 )

$

$

$

912,711
66,860
29,939
15,359
1,024,869
(90,045 )
934,824

$

269,657
19,382
20,459
(7,454 )
302,044
(22,723 )
(108,280 )
(4,864 )
(1,989 )
(17,095 )
(4,000 )
(1,455 )
(38,849 )
(5 )
46
(55 )
(17,082 )
8,526
94,219

$

$

$

312,209
30,880
13,370
—
356,459
(32,054 )
324,405
43,428
2,679
5,652
—
51,759
(12,222 )
(70,365 )
308
(4,075 )
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(34,595 )

Segment information as of June 30, 2022 and December 31, 2021 is as follows:
June 30,
2022

(In thousands)

Total assets
Stimulation services
Manufacturing
Proppant production
Other
Total segment assets
Eliminations
Total

$

$
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1,401,665
113,147
133,235
193,297
1,841,344
(177,719 )
1,663,625

December 31,
2021

$

$

510,579
77,968
100,294
—
688,841
(24,271 )
664,570
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19. Subsequent events
The following events occurred after June 30, 2022:
On July 25, 2022, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding membership interests of each of SP Silica of Monahans, LLC and SP Silica Sales, LLC
(collectively “Monahans”), the West Texas subsidiaries of Signal Peak Silica, for a purchase price of $90.0 million in cash plus working capital adjustments of approximately
$10.0 million.
On July 25, 2022, the New Term Loan Facility was amended to increase the size of the New Term Loan Facility by $150.0 million with an uncommitted option to obtain
commitments for a potential additional $100.0 million of delayed draw loans before the earlier to occur of (i) the Merger and (ii) March 31, 2023. The maturity date of the New
Term Loan Facility remains the same at March 4, 2025. The Company used a portion of the proceeds from the increased New Term Loan Facility to fund the acquisition of
Monahans and anticipates using the remainder of the proceeds and operating cash to facilitate the Merger, pay outstanding debt under the New ABL Credit Facility and/or for
other general corporate purposes.
On July 25, 2022, the New ABL Credit Facility was amended to add an uncommitted $100.0 million incremental facility (the “Incremental Facility”, under the terms of which
existing lenders can make additional loans (in their sole discretion) under, or new lenders can join, the Incremental Facility and increase the potential size of the New ABL
Credit Facility from $200 million to $300 million, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. All other terms and conditions of the New ABL Credit Facility remained
substantially unchanged.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations
Recent Developments
Initial Public Offering
On May 12, 2022, we completed our initial public offering (“IPO”) of 16,000,000 shares of our Class A Common Stock at a public offering price of $18.00 per share. On June
6, 2022, an over-allotment option was exercised resulting in an additional 2,228,153 shares of Class A Common Stock being priced at $18.00 per share. The IPO and exercise
of the over-allotment option generated combined net proceeds of $303.9 million, after deducting underwriter discounts and commissions and estimated offering costs.
In connection with our IPO, we entered into the transactions described in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022.
Corporate Reorganization
Pursuant to a master reorganization agreement (the “Master Reorganization Agreement”) dated May 12, 2022, by and among the Company, ProFrac Holdings, LLC (“ProFrac
LLC”) and certain other holders of common units of ProFrac LLC, the Company and ProFrac LLC completed certain restructuring transactions (the “Corporate
Reorganization”). As part of the Corporate Reorganization:
•

the Company amended and restated its Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws;

•

the Company and the other members of ProFrac LLC entered into the Third Amended and Restated ProFrac Limited Liability Company Agreement (the “ProFrac
LLC Agreement”); and

•

in connection with the adoption of the ProFrac LLC Agreement, the Company was admitted as the sole managing member of ProFrac LLC.

For additional information regarding the Corporate Reorganization and the Master Reorganization Agreement, please see “Corporate Reorganization” in ourprospectus, dated
May 12, 2022, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act on May 16, 2022 in connection with our initial public offering (the “IPO Prospectus”) and
“Master Reorganization Agreement” in Item 1.01 of our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022, respectively.
Acquisition of FTS International, Inc.
On March 4, 2022, the Company acquired the outstanding stock of FTSI International, Inc. (“FTSI”) for a purchase price of $405.7 million, consisting of cash consideration of
$332.8 million, and certain equity interests of $72.9 million (“THRC FTSI Related Equity”).
Consolidation of Flotek Industries, Inc.
On February 2, 2022, we entered into an agreement with Flotek Industries, Inc. (“Flotek”), pursuant to which Flotek will provide full downhole chemistry solutions for a
minimum of ten hydraulic fleets for three years starting on April 1, 2022, at a price of cost plus 7% (“Flotek Supply Agreement”). In exchange for entry into the Flotek Supply
Agreement, we received $10 million in initial principal amount of Flotek Convertible Notes and acquired an additional $10 million in principal amount of Flotek Convertible
Notes in the PIPE Transaction. Our equity ownership in Flotek on a fully diluted basis as a result of this investment is approximately 17%. In addition, we received the right to
designate up to two directors to Flotek’s board of directors.
On February 16, 2022, we and Flotek agreed to amend the Flotek Supply Agreement to increase the term to ten years and increase the scope to 30 fleets. In exchange for our
entry into the amendment to the Flotek Supply Agreement (the “Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment”), Flotek agreed to issue us $50 million in initial principal amount of
Flotek Convertible Notes that will be convertible into Flotek common stock. The Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment and issuance to us of additional Flotek Convertible
Notes were conditioned upon customary closing conditions including the approval of Flotek’s shareholders. In May 2022, the Flotek shareholders approved the Convertible
Notes issuance and the Flotek Supply Agreement Amendment. Our equity ownership in Flotek on a fully diluted basis after the consummation of these transactions is
approximately 43%, and we are permitted to designate two additional directors, or up to four directors to Flotek’s board of directors. Because of our power to appoint directors
to the board of directors without a direct equity interest in Flotek, we determined that Flotek is a variable interest entity (“VIE”). We further determined that the Company is the
primary beneficiary of the VIE, primarily due to our ability to appoint four of seven directors to Flotek’s board of
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directors. As a result, subsequent to May 17, 2022, we have accounted for this transaction as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting and Flotek’s
financial statements have been included in our consolidated financial statements from May 17, 2022. As we had no direct equity interest in Flotek during the three months
ended June 30, 2022, we allocated 100% of Flotek’s loss to noncontrolling interests in our consolidated financial statements. See Note 14 – Acquisitions and investments in the
notes to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion related to the acquisition of Flotek.
Acquisition of Monahans
On July 25, 2022, ProFrac II LLC acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding membership interests of each of SP Silica of Monahans LLC and SP Silica Sales, LLC
(collectively, “Monahans”), the West Texas subsidiaries of Signal Peak Silica, for a purchase price of $90 million in cash plus working capital adjustments of approximately $10
million. In connection with the closing of the Monahans acquisition, ProFrac II LLC acquired, among other things, an in-basin frac sand facility and related mining operations in
the Permian Basin.
Agreement to Acquire U.S. Well Services, Inc.
As previously disclosed in the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 24, 2022 (the “USWS Merger 8-K”), on June 21, 2022, the Company entered
into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, U.S. Well Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“USWS”), and Thunderclap
Merger Sub I, Inc., a Delaware corporation and an indirect subsidiary of the Company (“Merger Sub”). The Merger Agreement provides for, among other things, the merger of
Merger Sub Inc. with and into USWS, with USWS surviving the merger as the surviving corporation and an indirect subsidiary of the Company (the “Merger”).
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at the effective time and as a result of the Merger, each share of Class A Common Stock of USWS, par value
$0.0001 per share (the “USWS Common Stock”), issued and outstanding immediately prior to the effective time of the Merger will be cancelled and converted automatically
into the right to receive 0.3366 shares of the Company’s Class A Common Stock.
The acquisition is expected to be completed in the fourth quarter of 2022, subject to the satisfaction of customary closing conditions, including the approval of USWS
stockholders, as described in the USWS Merger 8-K.
Based on the closing price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock (as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market) of $21.49 per share on June 21, 2022, the last trading
day prior to announcement of the Merger Agreement, the transaction represents aggregate stock consideration of approximately $93 million and a consideration per share of
USWS Common Stock of $7.23, after giving effect to USWS’ recent 1-for-6 reverse stock split. After giving effect to the conversions of certain securities of USWS, as
described in the USWS Merger 8-K, the total stock consideration payable to USWS stockholders and holders of USWS equity awards, based on the Company’s Class A
Common Stock June 21, 2022 closing price, would be approximately $270 million. In addition, the Company will assume approximately $55 million of USWS’ outstanding
indebtedness and will repay approximately $170 million of USWS debt expected to be outstanding at closing. We anticipate that the total consideration to be paid in connection
with the closing of the Merger will be funded through the New Term Loan Credit Facility and/or the New ABL Credit Facility, available cash, additional loans and/or notes and
cash flows generated from operations.

Our Predecessor and ProFrac Holding Corp.
Our predecessor consists of ProFrac LLC and its subsidiaries, Best Flow and Alpine (which we refer to as “ProFrac Predecessor”) on a consolidated basis. Historical periods for
ProFrac Predecessor had been presented on a consolidated and combined basis given the common control ownership by the Wilks. On December 21, 2021, all of the thenoutstanding membership interests in Best Flow and Alpine were contributed to ProFrac LLC in exchange for membership interests in ProFrac LLC. Unless otherwise indicated,
the historical consolidated financial information included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q presents the historical financial information of ProFrac Predecessor. Historical
consolidated financial information is not indicative of the results that may be expected in any future periods.

Overview
We are a growth-oriented, vertically integrated and innovation-driven energy services company providing hydraulic fracturing, completion services and other complementary
products and services to leading upstream oil and gas companies engaged in the exploration and production (“E&P”) of North American unconventional oil and natural gas
resources. Founded in 2016, ProFrac was built to be the go-to service provider for E&P companies’ most demanding hydraulic fracturing needs. We are focused on employing
new technologies to significantly reduce “greenhouse gas” emissions and increase efficiency in what has historically been an
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emissions-intensive component of the unconventional E&P development process. We believe the technical and operational capabilities of our fleets ideally position us to
capture increased demand resulting from the market recovery and our customers’ shifting preferences favoring the sustainable development of natural resources.
Our operations are focused on the leading unconventional regions in the United States, where we have cultivated deep and longstanding customer relationships with some of
those regions’ most active E&P companies. We operate in three business segments: stimulation services, manufacturing and proppant production. We believe we are one of the
largest providers of hydraulic fracturing services in North America, with installed capacity of 34 conventional fleets, of which, as of June 30, 2022, 31 were active.

Overall trends and outlook
The global public health crisis associated with the COVID-19 pandemic had an unprecedented effect on demand for energy, crude oil prices and global economic activity. In
2020, the combined effect of COVID-19 and the disruptions to the energy industry led to a rapid and significant decline in WTI crude oil prices and Henry Hub natural gas
prices. In response to the significant drop in commodity prices, E&P companies acted swiftly to reduce capital budgets and drilling and completion activity. Reduced demand
for services compounded by constrained capital access forced the acceleration of the attrition cycle for pressure pumping equipment as older equipment requiring higher repair
and maintenance spending were used for spare parts or scrapped. These difficult industry conditions allowed us to strengthen our industry leadership position by implementing
targeted and forward-looking initiatives that enhance our equipment and provide greater supply chain control.
Drilling and completion activities for oil and gas are heavily influenced by oil and gas prices. In 2022, geopolitical tensions in Eastern Europe related to Russia’s invasion of
Ukraine have resulted in significant supply disruptions as a broad coalition of countries have responded with sanctions and/or import bans associated with Russian oil and
natural gas. This has resulted in significant tightening in the market as reflected by higher commodity prices, with oil and gas prices reaching decade highs. As a result of the
FTSI acquisition, our operations have diversified exposure to both natural gas and oil producing areas. Natural gas and oil prices have increased substantially compared to yearend 2020 prices and have also surpassed year-end 2019 (pre-COVID-19) levels.
While commodity prices have returned to and exceeded pre-pandemic levels, the pandemic has nonetheless led to supply chain disruptions worldwide. Tariffs, access to
employees, increased shipping rates and raw material shortages are plaguing markets. Our supply chain is either vertically integrated or predominantly U.S. based, mitigating
our exposure to global disruptions and price increases and allowing us to continue to maintain attractive margins. As our operations are predominantly U.S. based, we have no
direct exposure to Russia and Ukraine. We have realized indirect impacts that may have occurred as a result of the crisis, such as modest increases in the costs of certain raw
materials and components we purchase for use in our manufacturing processes. However, given the inflationary climate in the United States and globally, we are unable to
determine the extent to which such increased commodity prices are the result of the crisis in Ukraine or a result of other factors. Despite these increases, we have experienced
improved results of operations due to increased utilization of our fleets and increased prices for our products and services which have permitted us to maintain and increase our
margins notwithstanding such cost increases.
The oil and gas industry is currently undergoing significant realignment of operating practices with a focus on reducing impacts to the environment. Many E&P companies are
implementing carbon tracking and reduction initiatives and are expecting oilfield service providers to deliver products and services that utilize the most advanced and
environmentally friendly technologies. We believe that companies in the pressure pumping industry with the most technologically advanced fleets and lowest carbon footprint
will likely see significant growth in market share at the expense of companies with less advanced equipment. We have embraced tangible initiatives that help to protect the
environment and improve our environment and communities making it part of our organizational culture since early in the life of the company. We have and intend to continue
to invest in a number of industry leading advanced technologies that reduce carbon emissions while increasing profitability. We are currently upgrading five to ten engines per
month from Tier II to Tier IV DGB. In June 2021 we entered into an agreement with USWS under which we have the ability to acquire up to 20 licenses to construct electricpowered hydraulic fracturing fleets utilizing Clean Fleet® technology. We believe that these initiatives and commitment to lower emissions will help us lead the energy
transition of the frac industry towards cleaner and sustainable business.

How we generate revenue
We operate three business segments: stimulation services, manufacturing and proppant production. Business activities that are not separately reportable, which only included
Flotek, are classified in the other category.
Stimulation services. We own and operate a fleet of mobile hydraulic fracturing units and other auxiliary equipment that generates revenue by providing stimulation services to
our customers. We also provide personnel and services that are tailored to meet each of our customers’ needs. We generally do not have long-term written contractual
arrangements with our customers other than standard master service agreements, which include general contractual terms between our customers and us. We charge our
customers on a per40
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job basis, in which we set pricing terms after receiving full specifications for the requested job, including the lateral length of the customer’s wellbore, the number of frac stages
per well, the amount of proppant employed and other specifications of the job. Well stimulation contains complementary services that we often provide to our customers,
including sand and associated logistics, chemicals and fuel. These complementary services are provided through various contractual arrangements based on our customers’
needs.
Manufacturing. We primarily generate revenue through sales of highly engineered, tight tolerance machined, assembled, and factory tested products such as high horsepower
pumps, valves, piping, swivels, large-bore manifold systems, seats, and fluid ends. As of June 30, 2022, we operate facilities in Cisco, Aledo and Fort Worth, Texas, including
an ISO 9001 2015 certified OEM manufacturing facility, in which we manufacture and refurbish many of the components used by our fleets, including pumps, fluid ends, power
ends, flow iron and other consumables and an engine and transmission rebuild facility that is licensed to provide warranty repairs on our transmissions. Additionally, we provide
iron inspection, iron recertification, pump refurbishment, fluid end refurbishment, pump function testing, paint, scrap, and lube system change services. We charge our
customers for equipment based on a per-order basis, in which we set pricing terms after receiving full specifications for the requested equipment. We charge our customers for
our services based on the parts and labor incurred. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, intersegment revenues for the manufacturing segment were 92%
and 88%, and 88% and 87%, respectively.
Proppant production. We generate revenue by providing proppant to oilfield service providers and E&P companies. We own and operate the Kermit sand mine in west Texas
and recently purchased and are in the process of developing the West Munger sand mine near Lamesa, Texas, and we charge our customers on a per ton of proppant basis at
current market prices. We do not have long-term written contractual arrangements with our customers with fixed pricing. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2022 and
2021, intersegment revenues for the proppant production segment were 64% and 44%, and 66% and 38%, respectively.

Costs of conducting our business
The principal costs of products and services involved in operating our business are expendables, personnel, equipment repairs and maintenance and fuel. Our fixed costs are
relatively low and a large portion of the costs described below are only incurred as we perform jobs for our customers.
Expendables. Expendables used in our stimulation services business are the largest expenses incurred, and include the fuel, product and freight costs associated with proppant,
chemicals and other consumables. Fuel is consumed both in the operation and movement of our hydraulic fracturing fleets and other equipment. In our proppant production
business, fuel to run equipment is one of our major expenses. These costs comprise a substantial variable component of our service costs, particularly with respect to the
quantity and quality of sand demanded when providing hydraulic fracturing services.
Raw Materials. Our manufacturing segment relies on various raw materials, specifically various grades of steel and other raw metals, and electricity.
Direct Labor Costs.

Payroll and benefit expenses directly related to the delivery of our products and services are included in our operating costs.

Other Direct Costs. We incur other expenses related to our products and service offerings, including the costs of repairs and maintenance, general supplies, equipment rental
and other miscellaneous operating expenses. Capital expenditures to upgrade or extend the useful life of equipment are not included in other direct costs.

How we evaluate our operations
Our management uses a variety of financial and operating metrics to evaluate and analyze the performance of our business, including Adjusted EBITDA.
Note regarding Non-GAAP financial measures
Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and should not be considered as a substitute for net income, net loss, operating loss or any other performance measure
derived in accordance with GAAP or as an alternative to net cash provided by operating activities as a measure of our profitability or liquidity. Adjusted EBITDA is a
supplemental measure utilized by our management and other users of our financial statements such as investors, commercial banks, research analysts and others, to assess our
financial performance because it allows us to compare our operating performance on a consistent basis across periods by removing the effects of our capital structure (such as
varying levels of interest expense), asset base (such as depreciation and amortization) and items outside the control of our management team (such as income tax rates).
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We view Adjusted EBITDA as an important indicator of performance. We define Adjusted EBITDA as our net income (loss), before (i) interest expense, net, (ii) income tax
provision, (iii) depreciation, depletion and amortization, (iv) loss on disposal of assets, (v) stock-based compensation, and (vi) other unusual or non-recurring charges, such as
costs related to our initial public offering, non-recurring supply commitment charges, certain bad debt expense and gain on extinguishment of debt.
We believe that our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA will provide useful information to investors in assessing our financial condition and results of operations. Net income
(loss) is the GAAP measure most directly comparable to Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as an alternative to net income (loss). Adjusted
EBITDA has important limitations as an analytical tool because it excludes some but not all items that affect the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure. You
should not consider Adjusted EBITDA in isolation or as a substitute for an analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Because Adjusted EBITDA may be defined
differently by other companies in our industry, our definition of this non-GAAP financial measures may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies,
thereby diminishing its utility.

Factors affecting the comparability of our financial results
Our future results of operations may not be comparable to our historical results of operations for the reasons described below:
Recent Acquisitions
We have grown recently through strategic acquisitions and investments, including through our recently completed acquisitions of Monahans, FTSI and West Munger and our
investments in BPC and Flotek. These acquisitions are not reflected in our historical results of operations and our future results will differ as a result.
In addition, in connection with our acquisitions, we have recorded the acquired assets and liabilities at fair value on the date of acquisition, which has impacted deferred
revenue and deferred costs balances and increased revenue and expenses from that which would have otherwise been recognized in subsequent periods. We also recorded
identifiable intangible assets that are amortized over their useful lives, increasing expenses from that which would otherwise have been recognized.
Public company expenses
We expect to incur additional recurring administrative expenses as a result of becoming a publicly traded corporation that we have not previously incurred, including costs
associated with compliance under the Exchange Act, annual and quarterly reports to shareholders, transfer agent fees, audit fees, incremental director and officer liability
insurance costs, SOX compliance readiness, and director and officer compensation. We additionally expect to incur approximately $2.5 million in incremental, non-recurring
costs related to our transition to a publicly traded corporation.
Income taxes
ProFrac Holding Corp. is a corporation and will be subject to U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. Although the ProFrac Predecessor entities are subject to franchise tax in
the State of Texas, they have historically been treated as pass-through entities for U.S. federal and other state and local income tax purposes and as such were not subject to U.S.
federal income taxes or other state or local income taxes. Rather, the tax liability with respect to the taxable income of the ProFrac Predecessor entities was passed through to
their owners. Accordingly, prior to the March 2022 acquisition of FTSI, a corporation subject to U.S. federal and state income tax, the financial data attributable to ProFrac
Predecessor contains no provision for U.S. federal income taxes or income taxes in any state or locality (other than franchise tax in the State of Texas). Subsequent to the
acquisition of FTSI in March 2022, the financial data of the ProFrac Predecessor does contain both U.S. federal and state income taxes. We estimate that we will be subject to
U.S. federal and state taxes at a blended statutory rate of approximately 23% of pre-tax earnings. Additionally, with the acquisition of EKU, the Company is subject to certain
foreign taxes, which were immaterial for the three and six months ended June 30, 2022.
Effective March 4, 2022 we account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the estimated
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled pursuant to the
provisions of Accounting Standards Codification 740, Income Taxes. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate is recognized in earnings in the
period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amounts more likely than not to be realized.
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We recorded a full valuation allowance on our net deferred tax assets based on our assessment that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax asset will not be realized. A
change in these assumptions could cause a decrease to the valuation allowance, which could materially impact our results of operations.

Results of operations

.

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

(Dollars in thousands)

Revenues—Stimulation services
Revenues—Manufacturing
Revenues—Proppant production
Other
Eliminations
Total revenues
Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation, depletion, and amortization—
Stimulation services
Manufacturing
Proppant production
Other
Eliminations
Total cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation, depletion, and amortization
Depreciation, depletion and amortization
Loss on disposal of assets, net
Selling, general and administrative
Interest expense, net
Loss on extinguishment of debt
Other income
Income tax (benefit) provision
Net income (loss)
Less: net (income) loss attributable to ProFrac Predecessor
Less: net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests
Less: net income attributable to redeemable noncontrolling interests
Net income attributable to ProFrac Holding Corp
Other data:
Adjusted EBITDA—Stimulation services
Adjusted EBITDA—Manufacturing
Adjusted EBITDA—Proppant production
Adjusted EBITDA—Other
Adjusted EBITDA (1)
Active fleets (2)
Baker Hughes Domestic Average Rig Count—Onshore (3)
Average oil price (per barrel) (4)
Average natural gas price (per thousand cubic feet) (5)

$

$

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

576,556
34,854
17,531
15,359
(54,456 )
589,844
344,535
22,104
9,309
19,108
(54,456 )
340,600
64,064
2,143
87,548
13,451
8,822
(989 )
4,112
70,093
(56,157 )
8,704
(16,082 )
6,558
196,088
9,360
12,574
(7,454 )
210,568
31
655
108.72
7.77

$

$

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

168,506
16,223
7,781
—
(17,691 )
174,819
126,448
13,916
4,035
—
(17,691 )
126,708
34,904
1,868
14,094
6,187
—
(53 )
(283 )
(8,606 )
8,478
128
—
—
30,475
349
3,246
—
34,070
14
410
66.09
3.06

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2022
2021

$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

912,711
66,860
29,939
15,359
(90,045 )
934,824
589,116
41,477
13,543
19,108
(90,045 )
573,199
108,280
1,989
121,675
22,723
17,095
(9,220 )
4,864
94,219
(79,867 )
8,288
(16,082 )
6,558
269,657
19,382
20,459
(7,454 )
302,044
26
615
101.59
6.30

$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$

312,209
30,880
13,370
—
(32,054 )
324,405
245,801
24,566
6,701
—
(32,054 )
245,014
70,365
4,075
27,872
12,222
—
(240 )
(308 )
(34,595 )
34,476
119
—
—
43,428
2,679
5,652
—
51,759
14
382
61.94
3.38

(1)

For definitions of the non-GAAP financial measures of Adjusted EBITDA, see “Note regarding Non-GAAP financial measures” above, and for a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to our most directly comparable
financial measures calculated in accordance with GAAP, see Note 18 – Segment Information, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which information is incorporated
herein by reference.

(2)

Active fleets is the average number of fleets operating in the period.

(3)

Average onshore U.S. rig count published by Baker Hughes.

(4)

Average West TX Intermediate Spot Price published by EIA.

(5)

Average Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price published by EIA.
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Three and six months ended June 30, 2022 compared to three and six months ended June 30, 2021
Revenues
Revenues—Stimulation services. Stimulation services revenues for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $408.0 million, or 242%, and $600.5 million, or
192%, respectively from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in customer activity for our stimulation services, and an increase in
active fleets, pumping hours and pricing. Additionally, FTSI contributed revenue to this segment from the acquisition date.
Revenues—Manufacturing. Manufacturing revenues for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $18.6 million, or 115%, and $36.0 million, or 117%,
respectively from the same periods in 2021.The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in demand for our products due to increased activity levels from customers for
manufactured components utilized in the oilfield service industry.
Revenues—Proppant production. Proppant production revenues for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $9.8 million, or 125%, and $16.6 million, or
124%, respectively from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in proppant production and pricing resulting from increased proppant
demand primarily in the Permian basin.
Revenues—Other. Other revenues for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 were $15.4 million compared to zero in the same periods in 2021. The increase was
attributable to the Flotek acquisition.
Total revenues. Total revenues for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $415.0 million and $610.4 million, respectively, from the same periods in 2021.
The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in customer activity for our stimulation services, and an increase in active fleets, pumping hours and pricing. Additionally,
FTSI contributed from the acquisition date.
Operating costs and expenses
Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation, depletion, and amortization—Stimulation services. Stimulation services for the second quarter and first six months of 2022
increased $218.1 million, or 172%, and $343.3 million, or 140%, respectively from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily due to an increase in activity levels, as
discussed in Revenue above, and additional input cost inflation. Additionally, FTSI contributed cost to this segment from the acquisition date.
Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation, depletion, and amortization—Manufacturing. Manufacturing for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased
$8.2 million, or 59%, and $16.9 million, or 69%, respectively from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in demand for our products
as well as an increase in the cost of raw materials.
Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation, depletion, and amortization—Proppant production. Proppant production for the second quarter and first six months of 2022
increased $5.3 million, or 131%, and $6.8 million, or 102%, respectively from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to a litigation charge of $4.0
million and an increase in proppant production and increased cost of production.
Cost of revenues, exclusive of depreciation, depletion, and amortization—Other. Other for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 was $19.1 million compared to
zero in the same periods in 2021. The increase was attributable to the Flotek acquisition.
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization. Depreciation, depletion, and amortization for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $29.2 million and $37.9
million, respectively from the same periods in 2021, The increase was primarily due to increased capital expenditure in the first quarter of 2022 and the depreciation related to
the assets acquired from FTSI acquisition.
Gain or Loss on disposal of assets, net. For the second quarter and first six months of 2022 we recorded a net loss on disposal of assets of $2.1 million and $2.0 million,
respectively, compared with a net loss on disposal of assets of $1.9 million and $4.1 million, respectively, for the same periods in 2021.
Selling, general and administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $73.5 million, or 521%, and
$93.8 million, or 337%, respectively from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily due to a stock-based compensation charge of $40.3 million primarily related to
certain deemed contributions in the second quarter of 2022. The increase was also due to higher headcount and personnel costs, higher incentive compensation, increased nonlabor costs associated with the increased activity levels, and acquisition related expenses. See Note 11 – Stock-based compensation in the notes to our consolidated financial
statements for additional discussion related to the stock-based compensation charge.
Interest expense, net. Interest expense, net for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $7.3 million and $10.5 million, respectively, from the same periods in
2021. The increase in interest expense, net was attributable to various debt transactions,
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which increased our debt balances, and higher average interest rates in the first quarter of 2022. See Note 7 – Indebtedness in the notes to our consolidated financial statements
for additional discussion related to our debt.
Loss on extinguishment of debt. As a result of the debt refinancing transactions in the first quarter of 2022 and debt repayments in the second quarter of 2022 transactions for
the second quarter and first six months of 2022, we recognized a loss on extinguishment of $8.8 million and $17.1 million, respectively. See Note 7 – Indebtedness in the notes
to our consolidated financial statements for additional discussion related to our debt.
Other income. For the second quarter and first six months of 2022 we recognized noncash income of $1.0 million and $9.2 million, respectively, primarily related to the
change in fair value of the Convertible Notes related to our investment in BPC and Flotek.
Income tax benefit (provision). Income tax expense for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 was $4.1 million and $4.9 million, respectively, compared to an income
tax benefit of $0.3 and $0.3 million for the same periods in 2021. The increase in the 2022 tax provision is due to the ProFrac Predecessor being partially owned by ProFrac
Corp, a taxable entity, subsequent to the IPO.
Segment results
The performance of our segments is evaluated primarily on Segment Adjusted EBITDA. For a reconciliation of Segment Adjusted EBITDA to net income or loss, see Note 18
– Segment Information, in the notes to our consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
Adjusted EBITDA—Stimulation services. Adjusted EBITDA—Stimulation services for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $165.6 million and $226.2
million, respectively, from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in average active fleets and increased pricing for our services,
partially offset by costs associated with the FTSI acquisition of $13.0 million.
Adjusted EBITDA—Manufacturing. Adjusted EBITDA—Manufacturing for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $9.0 million and $16.7 million,
respectively, from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily due to increased volume for our products used by our oil field services customers.
Adjusted EBITDA—Proppant production. Adjusted EBITDA—Proppant production for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 increased $9.3 million and $14.8
million, respectively, from the same periods in 2021. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in proppant production and pricing resulting from increased
proppant demand in the Permian basin.
Adjusted EBITDA—Other.
was due to Flotek results.

Adjusted EBITDA—Other for the second quarter and first six months of 2022 decreased $7.5 million from the same periods in 2021. The decrease

Liquidity and capital resources
Historically, our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources have been borrowings under our Old ABL Credit Facility, cash flows from our operations and capital
contributions from our shareholders. Our primary uses of capital have been investing in and maintaining our property and equipment and repaying indebtedness.
Since our IPO, we expect that our primary sources of liquidity and capital resources will be cash on hand, including net proceeds of our IPO, cash flows generated by operating
activities and borrowings under our credit facilities. We expect that our primary uses of capital will be to continue to fund our operations, support organic and strategic growth
opportunities and satisfy future debt payments.
Due our determination that Flotek is a VIE of which the Company is the primary beneficiary, Flotek’s financial statements have been included in our consolidated financial
statements from May 17, 2022. However, we do not have the ability to access or deploy Flotek’s cash or liquidity in our operations and, accordingly, have excluded Flotek’s
cash and other sources of liquidity from the following discussion of our liquidity and capital resources. See Note 14 – Acquisitions and investments in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements for additional discussion related to the acquisition of Flotek.
Based on our current cash and cash equivalents balance, operating cash flow, current availability under our credit facilities, and the ongoing actions and financing alternatives
discussed below, we believe that we will be able to maintain sufficient liquidity to fund our planned acquisitions and capital expenditures, satisfy our obligations, and remain in
compliance with our existing debt covenants through the next twelve months and beyond.
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Acquisition Financing
We may need to incur significant additional indebtedness in order to finance the Merger, which will limit our operating flexibility, and could adversely affect our operations and
financial results and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations. The Merger Agreement requires us to use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and consummate a financing
to fund the repayment in connection with the closing of the Merger of certain indebtedness of USWS and its subsidiaries. Our obtaining the financing necessary to consummate
the Merger is not a condition to closing the Merger.
As further described below, on July 25, 2022, we amended (i) the NewTerm Loan Facility to increase the size of the New Term Loan Facility by $150.0 million with an
uncommitted option to obtain commitments for a potential additional $100.0 million of delayed draw loans and (ii) the New ABL Credit Facility to add an uncommitted $100.0
million incremental facility and increase the potential size of the New ABL Credit Facility from $200 million to $300 million. We used a portion of the proceeds from the
increased New Term Loan Facility to fund the acquisition of Monahans and we anticipate using the remainder of the proceeds and operating cash to finance the Merger, pay
outstanding debt under New ABL Credit Facility and/or for other general corporate purposes.
In addition to the approximately $270 million in total stock consideration payable to USWS stockholders and holders of USWS equity awards, the repayment of approximately
$170 million of USWS debt expected to be outstanding at closing, and the payment of expenses and other costs incurred in connection with the Merger, we expect to assume
approximately $55 million of indebtedness in connection with the Merger. Although we expect to fund these costs through the New Term Loan Credit Facility and/or the New
ABL Credit Facility, available cash, additional loans and/or notes and cash flows generated from operations, we cannot assure that these sources will be sufficient, or that we
will be able to refinance any of our outstanding indebtedness, and/or obtain additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, or that our cash flows generated from operations
will be sufficient, in order to satisfy our obligations in connection with the Merger, or otherwise. For additional discussion of risks relating to our liquidity needs, the Merger and
our anticipated additional indebtedness, see our risk factors under Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Tax Receivable Agreement
On May 17, 2022, in connection with our IPO, we entered into a tax receivable agreement (the “TRA”) with certain of the common unit holders of ProFrac LLC (the “TRA
Holders”). The TRA generally provides for the payment by us to each TRA Holder of 85% of the net cash savings, if any, in U.S. federal, state and local income tax and
franchise tax (computed using simplifying assumptions to address the impact of state and local taxes) that we actually realize (or are deemed to realize in certain circumstances)
as a result of (i) certain increases in tax basis that occur as a result of our acquisition (or deemed acquisition for U.S. federal income tax purposes) of all or a portion of such
TRA Holder’s common units of ProFrac LLC in connection with our IPO or pursuant to an exercise of the Redemption Right (as defined in the TRA) or the Call Right (as
defined in the TRA) and (ii) imputed interest deemed to be paid by us as a result of, and additional tax basis arising from, any payments we make under the TRA. We depend on
ProFrac LLC to make distributions to us in an amount sufficient to cover our obligations under the TRA.
Payments will generally be made under the TRA as we realize actual cash tax savings from the tax benefits covered by the TRA. However, if we experience a Change of Control
(as defined in the TRA), or the TRA otherwise terminates early, our obligations under the TRA would accelerate and we would be required to make an immediate payment
equal to the present value of the anticipated future payments to be made by us under the TRA (determined by applying a discount rate). Any such payment is expected to be
substantial.
Our 2022 Capital Budget
Our 2022 capital expenditure budget, excluding acquisitions, is estimated to be in a range between $265 million and $290 million, which represents the high end of the range
provided previously, due to increased activity levels and costs. We have budgeted approximately $65 million to $70 million to construct three electric-powered fleets. We are
fully committed to building the three electric-powered fleets and have several customers interested in contracting these fleets. We intend to align fleet construction and other
growth capital expenditures with visible customer demand, by strategically deploying new equipment in response to inbound customer requests and industry trends. Also
included in our 2022 capital expenditure budget is $25 million to $30 million to construct the West Munger sand mine. We estimate maintenance capital expenditures to be $3.0
million per fleet per year. We expect that the remainder of our 2022 capital expenditure budget, excluding any potential acquisitions, will be used to fund other growth
initiatives such as upgrading Tier II fleets to Tier IV dual fuel fleets. We continually evaluate our capital expenditures and the amount that we ultimately spend will depend on a
number of factors, including customer demand for new fleets and expected industry activity levels. We believe we will be able to fund our 2022 capital program from cash flows
from operations.
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Working Capital
Our working capital was $283.7 million and $5.0 million as of June 30, 2022, and December 31, 2021, respectively. The $278.7 million increase in working capital was
primarily due to higher activity levels in the first six months of 2022.
Cash and Cash Flows
The following table sets forth the historical cash flows for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021:
Six Months Ended June 30,
2022
2021

(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

$

$

84,464
(388,330 )
374,244
70,378

$

$

26,780
(38,451 )
26,101
14,430

Operating activities
Net cash provided by operating activities was $84.5 million and $26.8 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase was primarily due to
higher activity levels and profitability, offset by working capital increases in the first and second quarters of 2022.
Investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities was $388.3 million and $38.5 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase was primarily due to
$279.0 million of cash paid for the FTSI acquisition, our $46.0 million investment in BPC, and higher capital expenditures of $62.5 million related to dual fuel engine upgrades,
ESC installations, and our electric frac fleet build program. These uses of cash were partially offset by cash proceeds from the FTSI Sale Leaseback of real property.
Financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $374.2 million and $26.1 million for the six months ended June 30, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The increase in cash provided by
financing activities was due to proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt associated with refinancing transactions related to the FTSI acquisition, proceeds from upsizing the
New ABL Credit Facility (as described below), and proceeds from our IPO. These proceeds were offset by payments against our various debt instruments.
Credit facilities and other financing arrangements
New ABL Credit Facility
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC, ProFrac II LLC, as borrower (in such capacity, the “ABL Borrower”), and certain of the ABL Borrower’s wholly owned subsidiaries as
obligors, entered into a senior secured asset-based revolving credit agreement (as amended, the “New ABL Credit Facility”), with a group of lenders with JPMorgan Chase
Bank N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent. The New ABL Credit Facility initially provided for an asset-based revolving credit facility with a borrowing base and
lender commitments of $100.0 million. On April 8, 2022, the New ABL Credit Facility was amended to increase the borrowing base and lender commitments to $200.0 million.
The New ABL Credit Facility has a borrowing base composed of certain eligible accounts receivable and eligible inventory less customary reserves, as redetermined monthly.
As of June 30, 2022, the maximum availability under the New ABL Credit Facility was the aggregate lender commitments of $200.0 million with $143.4 million of borrowings
outstanding and $9.2 million of letters of credit outstanding, resulting in approximately $47.4 million of remaining availability. The New ABL Credit Facility matures on the
earlier of (i) March 4, 2027 and (ii) 91 days prior to the stated maturity of any material indebtedness (other than the First Financial Loan).
Borrowings under the New ABL Credit Facility accrue interest based on a three-tier pricing grid tied to average historical availability, and the ABL Borrower may elect for
loans to be based on either an Adjusted Term SOFR or a base rate, plus the applicable margin. The interest rate under the New ABL Credit Facility for (a) Adjusted Term SOFR
is the applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to Adjusted Term SOFR (with an Adjusted Term SOFR Floor of 0.00%); and (b) Base Rate Loans are the
applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to the greatest of the Prime Rate in effect on such day, or the NYFRB Rate in effect
47

Table of Contents
on such day plus 1/2% of 1% and the Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month Interest Period as published two (2) U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such day
(or if such day is not a Business Day, the immediately preceding Business Day), plus 1.0%. The applicable margin for Adjusted Term SOFR Loans ranges from 1.50% to 2.00%
and for Base Rate Loans ranges from 0.50% to 1.00%, depending on the average daily availability over the last three months under the New ABL Credit Facility.
The New ABL Credit Facility bears an unused line fee ranging from 0.250% to 0.375%, depending on the average daily availability over the last three months payable quarterly
in arrears. The New ABL Credit Facility also bears customary letter of credit fees. The interest rate was 5.50% as of June 30, 2022.
The New ABL Credit Facility is subject to customary mandatory prepayments, including a mandatory prepayment if the aggregate unpaid principal balance of revolving loans,
agent advances, swingline borrowings, unreimbursed drawings under letters of credit and the undrawn amount of outstanding letters of credit exceeds at any time the lesser of
(x) the then applicable borrowing base and (y) the then total effective commitments under the New ABL Credit Facility, in an amount equal to such excess. After the occurrence
and during the continuance of a Cash Dominion Period (defined in the New ABL Credit Facility as (a) any period commencing upon the date that availability shall have been
less than the greater of (i) 12.5% of the Maximum Credit (which is the lesser of the maximum revolver amount in effect at such time and the borrowing base at such time) and
(ii) $10.0 million for a period of five consecutive business days and continuing until the date on which availability shall have been at least the greater of (y) 12.5% of the
Maximum Credit and (z) $10.0 million for 20 consecutive calendar days or (b) any period commencing on the occurrence of certain specified events of default, and continuing
during the period that such specified event of default shall be continuing).
The New ABL Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants. The negative covenants include, subject to
customary exceptions, limitations on indebtedness, dividends, distributions and certain other payments, investments, acquisitions, prepayments of specified junior indebtedness,
amendments of specified junior indebtedness, transactions with affiliates, dispositions, mergers and consolidations, liens, restrictive agreements, sale and leaseback transactions,
changes in fiscal periods and changes in line of business.
We are required by the New ABL Credit Facility to maintain minimum liquidity of $5.0 million at all times. Additionally, when availability is less than thegreater of (i) 12.5%
of the maximum credit (which is the lesser of the maximum revolver amount in effect at such time and the borrowing base at such time) and (ii) $10.0 million and continuing
until such time as availability has been in excess of such threshold for a period of 20 consecutive calendar days, we are required by the New ABL Credit Facility to maintain a
springing Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the New ABL Credit Facility) of at least 1.0 to 1.0, which is tested quarterly during such period. ProFrac LLC was in
compliance with all covenants, and there were no existing defaults or events of default related to the New ABL Credit Facility as of June 30, 2022.
On July 25, 2022, the New ABL Credit Facility was amended to add an uncommitted $100.0 million incremental facility (the “Incremental Facility”), under the terms of which
existing lenders can make additional loans (in their sole discretion) under, or new lenders can join, the Incremental Facility and increase the potential size of the New ABL
Credit Facility from $200 million to $300 million, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. All other terms and conditions of the New ABL Credit Facility remained
substantially unchanged.
New Term Loan Credit Facility
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC, ProFrac II LLC, as borrower (in such capacity, the “Term Loan Borrower”), and certain of the Term Loan Borrower’s wholly owned
subsidiaries as obligors, entered into a senior secured term loan credit agreement (the “New Term Loan Credit Facility”), with Piper Sandler Finance LLC, as administrative
agent and collateral agent (the “Term Loan Agent”), and the lenders party thereto. The New Term Loan Credit Facility provides for a term loan facility in an aggregate principal
amount of $450.0 million. In the second quarter of 2022, the New Term Loan Facility was paid down by $143.8 million with net proceeds from the IPO. As of June 30, 2022,
the Term Loan Borrower had approximately $302.4 million outstanding under the New Term Loan Credit Facility. The New Term Loan Credit Facility matures on March 4,
2025.
Borrowings under the New Term Loan Credit Facility accrue interest at a percentage per annum equal to (a) until October 1, 2022, (i) for SOFR Rate Loans, 8.50%, and (ii) for
Base Rate Loans, 7.50% and (b) thereafter, based on a three-tier pricing grid tied to Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility), and the Term
Loan Borrower may elect for loans to be based on either Adjusted Term SOFR or Base Rate, plus the applicable margin. The interest rate on the New Term Loan Credit Facility
for (a) SOFR Rate Loans are the applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to Adjusted Term SOFR (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility), with a
SOFR floor of 1.00% and (b) Base Rate Loans are the applicable margin plus the fluctuating per annum rate equal to the highest of (i) the federal funds rate plus 1/2 of 1%, (ii)
the interest rate quoted in the print edition of The Wall Street Journal, Money Rates Section, as the prime rate in effect, (iii) Adjusted Term SOFR for a one-month interest
period as determined on such day, plus 1.0% and (iv) 2.00%.
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The applicable margin for (a) SOFR Rate Loans ranges from 6.50% to 8.00% and (b) Base Rate Loans ranges from 5.50% to 7.00%, depending on the Total Net Leverage Ratio
(as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) as of the first day of the then-current fiscal quarter.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility is guaranteed by ProFrac LLC and all of the Term Loan Borrower’s material existing subsidiaries and certain direct and indirect future U.S.
restricted subsidiaries of the Term Loan Borrower. The New Term Loan Credit Facility is secured by a lien on, and security interest in, substantially all of each such guarantor’s
assets, which consists of:
•

a perfected security interest in all present and after-acquired equipment, fixtures, fracturing equipment (in each case of the foregoing, specifically excluding Fracturing
Equipment Parts), real estate, intellectual property, equity interests in all direct and indirect subsidiaries of any grantor, intercompany loans of the grantors and/or their
subsidiaries, all other assets whether real, personal or mixed, to the extent not constituting ABL Priority Collateral, and, except to the extent constituting ABL Priority
Collateral and to the extent evidencing or otherwise related to such items, all documents, general intangibles, instruments, investment property, commercial tort claims,
letters of credit, letter-of-credit rights and supporting obligations, all books, records and documents relating to, or arising from, any of the foregoing, in each case, except
to the extent such proceeds constitute ABL Priority Collateral, any fixed asset priority

•

proceeds account and the proceeds of any of the foregoing, business interruption insurance proceeds and subject to customary exceptions and exclusions (collectively, the
“Fixed Asset Priority Collateral”), which security interest is senior to the security interest in the foregoing assets securing the New ABL Credit Facility; and

•

a perfected security interest in the ABL Priority Collateral, which security interest is junior to the security interest in the ABL Priority Collateral securing the New ABL
Credit Facility.

The respective rights of the New Term Loan Credit Facility lenders and the New ABL Credit Facility lenders in the ABL Priority Collateral and the Fixed Asset Priority
Collateral are governed by an intercreditor agreement between the Term Loan Agent and the ABL Agent.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility is subject to quarterly amortization beginning in June 2022, though any excess cash flow payments, reduce the required amortization.
Additionally, the New Term Loan Credit Facility is subject to a quarterly mandatory prepayment beginning for the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2022 in an amount
equal to the Applicable ECF Percentage (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility). The Applicable ECF Percentage ranges from 50% of Excess Cash Flow (as defined
in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) to 25% of Excess Cash Flow depending on the Total Net Leverage Ratio as of the last day of the applicable fiscal quarter. The New Term
Loan Credit Facility is subject to customary mandatory prepayments, subject in some cases to the right of the Term Loan Borrower and its restricted subsidiaries to reinvest
such proceeds within a specified period of time, and certain other exceptions.
Voluntary prepayments of borrowings under the New Term Loan Credit Facility are permitted at any time, in specified minimum principal amounts, subject to reimbursement
of the lenders’ redeployment costs actually incurred in the case of a prepayment of SOFR Rate Loans other than on the last day of the relevant interest period. Between March
4, 2022 and March 4, 2023, certain prepayments of the New Term Loan Credit Facility are subject to a prepayment premium of 3.00% (or, in the case of any IPO Prepayment
(as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility), 2.00%). Between March 5, 2023 and March 4, 2024, certain prepayments of the New Term Loan Credit Facility are subject
to a 2.00% prepayment premium. After March 4, 2024, but prior to the Stated Termination Date (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) certain prepayments of the
New Term Loan Credit Facility are subject to a 1.00% prepayment premium. No payment or prepayment premium shall be due on account of any payments or prepayments
made on the Stated Termination Date.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility contains certain customary representations and warranties and affirmative and negative covenants. The negative covenants include, subject
to customary exceptions, limitations on indebtedness, dividends, distributions and certain other payments, investments, capital expenditures, acquisitions, prepayments of
specified junior indebtedness, amendments of specified junior indebtedness, transactions with affiliates, dispositions, mergers and consolidations, liens, restrictive agreements,
changes in fiscal periods and changes in line of business.
We are required by the New Term Loan Credit Facility to maintain a Total Net Leverage Ratio (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) (i) of no more than 2.00 to
1.00 for the fiscal quarter ending on June 30, 2022, (ii) of no more than 1.55 to 1.00 for the fiscal quarters ending on September 30, 2022 and December 31, 2022, and (iii) of no
more than 1.25 for each fiscal quarter ending on March 31, 2023 and thereafter.
We are required by the New Term Loan Credit Facility to maintain minimum liquidity of $30.0 million at all times.
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The New Term Loan Credit Agreement prohibits Capital Expenditures (as defined in the New Term Loan Credit Facility) in excess of (i) in the case of the Fiscal Year ended
December 31, 2022, the greater of (x) $275,000,000 in the aggregate and (y) in the case of any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending in such Fiscal Year, 50% of
Consolidated EBITDA for the Test Period most recently ended prior to the date of the applicable Capital Expenditure, and (ii) in the case of any period of four consecutive
fiscal quarters ending thereafter, commencing with the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending on March 31, 2023, an aggregate amount equal to 50.0% of
Consolidated EBITDA for the Test Period most recently ended prior to the date of the applicable Capital Expenditure, provided that if the amount of the Capital Expenditures
permitted to be made in any Fiscal Year is greater than the actual amount of the Capital Expenditures actually made in such Fiscal Year, then up to $20,000,000 of such excess
amount may be carried forward to the next succeeding Fiscal Year.
The New Term Loan Credit Facility contains customary events of default. If an event of default occurs and is continuing, the lenders may declare all loans to be immediately
due and payable. Some events of default require an automatic termination of the loans and become immediately due and payable. We were in compliance with all covenants, and
there were no defaults or events of default related to the New Term Loan Credit Facility, as of June 30, 2022.
On July 25, 2022, the New Term Loan Facility was amended to increase the size of the New Term Loan Facility by $150.0 million with an uncommitted option to obtain
commitments for a potential additional $100.0 million of delayed draw loans before the earlier to occur of (i) the consummation of the Merger and (ii) March 31, 2023. The
maturity date of the New Term Loan Facility remains the same at March 4, 2025.The Company used a portion of the proceeds from the increased New Term Loan Facility to
fund the acquisition of Monahans and anticipates using the remainder of the proceeds and operating cash to facilitate the Merger, pay outstanding debt under the New ABL
Credit Facility and/or for other general corporate purposes.
First Financial Loan
On December 22, 2021, ProFrac II LLC entered into a $30.0 million loan agreement with First Financial Bank, N.A. with a stated maturity date of January 1, 2024 (the “First
Financial Loan”). The First Financial Loan bears interest at a variable rate based on the Prime rate published by the Wall Street Journal, floating daily. As of June 30, 2022,
ProFrac II LLC had $24.0 million outstanding under the First Financial Loan.
The First Financial Loan is secured by a first lien on, and security interest in, certain truck tractors and all other trailers, trucks and vehicles owned by ProFrac Services and
ProFrac Manufacturing, in each case, more particularly described in the security agreement, and is guaranteed by ProFrac Services, ProFrac Manufacturing and ProFrac LLC.
The First Financial Loan is subject to monthly principal amortization beginning in February 2022.
The First Financial Loan contains certain restrictive covenants which require ProFrac LLC to maintain a Total Net Leverage Ratio, as defined in the loan agreement, of no
greater than 3.00:1.00, and a Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio, as defined in the loan agreement, of at least 1.00:1.00.
Equify Bridge Note
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac II LLC entered into a $45.8 million subordinated promissory note with Equify Financial with a stated maturity date of March 4, 2027 (the “Equify
Bridge Note”). The Equify Bridge Note bears interest at a percentage per annum equal to 1.0%. Interest under the Equify Bridge Note is paid on a quarterly basis and is solely
payable in kind, with such interest amounts being added to the outstanding principal amount of the Equify Bridge Note, until the date that both the New ABL Credit Facility and
the New Term Loan Credit Facility shall have been terminated, after which date quarterly interest payments may be paid in kind or in cash. In April 2022, the Company repaid
$25.0 million in principal under the Equify Bridge Note.
The Equify Bridge Note is unsecured and subordinated to the indebtedness owing under the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility.
Until the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility have been terminated, prepayments of principal under the Equify Bridge Note are permitted solely
to the extent permitted under the New ABL Credit Facility and New Term Loan Credit Facility. After the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility
have been terminated, prepayments may be made at any time without prepayment penalty or premium.
In June 2022, the Equify Bridge Note was fully paid with net proceeds from the IPO.
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Backstop Note
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC entered into a $22.0 million subordinated promissory note with THRC Holdings with a stated maturity date of March 4, 2027 (the “Backstop
Note”). The Backstop Note bears interest at a percentage per annum equal to 1.74%. Interest under the Backstop Note is paid on a quarterly basis and is solely payable in kind,
with such interest amounts being added to the outstanding principal amount of the Backstop Note, until the date that both the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan
Credit Facility shall have been terminated, after which date quarterly interest payments may be paid in kind or in cash.
The Backstop Note is unsecured and subordinated to the indebtedness owing under the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility.
Until the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility have been terminated, prepayments of principal under the Backstop Note are permitted solely to the
extent permitted under the New ABL Credit Facility and New Term Loan Credit Facility. After the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility have been
terminated, prepayments may be made at any time without prepayment penalty or premium.
In June 2022, the Backstop Note was fully paid with net proceeds from the IPO.
Closing Date Note
On March 4, 2022, ProFrac LLC entered into a $22.0 million subordinated promissory note with THRC Holdings with a stated maturity date of March 4, 2027 (the “Closing
Date Note”). The Closing Date Note bears interest at a percentage per annum equal to 1.74%. Interest under the Closing Date Note is paid on a quarterly basis and is solely
payable in kind, with such interest amounts being added to the outstanding principal amount of the Closing Date Note, until the date that both the New ABL Credit Facility and
the New Term Loan Credit Facility shall have been terminated, after which date quarterly interest payments may be paid in kind or in cash.
The Closing Date Note is unsecured and subordinated to the indebtedness owing under the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility.
Until the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility have been terminated, prepayments of principal under the Closing Date Note are permitted solely to
the extent permitted under the New ABL Credit Facility and New Term Loan Credit Facility. After the New ABL Credit Facility and the New Term Loan Credit Facility have
been terminated, prepayments may be made at any time without prepayment penalty or premium.
In June 2022, the Closing Date Note was fully paid with net proceeds from the IPO.
Contractual obligations
The following table summarizes the principal maturity schedule for our long-term debt outstanding as of June 30, 2022:
2022

First Financial loan
New ABL Credit Facility
New Term Loan Credit Facility
Flotek Convertible Notes
Other
Total

$

$

8,659
—
7,560
—
7,803
24,022

2023

$

$

15,291
—
15,120
12,739
1,908
45,058

2024

$

$

—
—
15,120
—
1,907
17,027

2025

$

$

—
—
264,580
—
543
265,123

2026

$

$

Thereafter

—
—
—
—
79
79

$

$

—
143,350
—
—
386
143,736

Total

$

$

23,950
143,350
302,380
12,739
12,626
495,045

Capital expenditures
During the six months ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, our capital expenditures were $116.1 million and $53.6 million, respectively. We currently expect our capital
expenditures to increase in 2022 and 2023, which are expected to be funded with cash flows from operations. The primary drivers of the increase are building electric-powered
hydraulic fracturing fleets, continued engine upgrades as part of our ESG initiatives, and deployment costs associated with reactivating hydraulic fracturing fleets.
Off-Balance sheet arrangements
From time-to-time, we enter into off-balance sheet arrangements and transactions that can give rise to off-balance sheet obligations. As of June 30, 2022 and December 31,
2021, the off-balance sheet arrangements and transactions that we have entered into include
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undrawn letters of credit. We do not believe that these arrangements are reasonably likely to materially affect our liquidity or availability of, or requirements for, capital
resources.
Critical accounting policies and estimates
The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally acceptable in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. We evaluate these estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis and base our estimates on historical experience, current conditions and
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities as well as identifying and assessing the accounting treatment with respect to commitments and contingencies. Our actual results may materially
differ from these estimates.
Our critical accounting policies are described under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates” in our IPO Prospectus.
Listed below are the changes in our accounting policies that we believe are critical to our financial statements due to the degree of uncertainty regarding the estimates or
assumptions involved, and that we believe are critical to the understanding of our operations.
Variable Interest Entities
We evaluate our ownership, contractual and other interest in entities to determine if they are VIEs. We evaluate whether we have a variable interest in those entities and the
nature and extent of those interests. Based on our evaluation, if we determine we are the primary beneficiary of a VIE, we consolidate the entity in our financial statements.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices. Historically, our risks have been predominantly related to potential changes in the fair
value of our long-term debt due to fluctuations in applicable market interest rates. Going forward our market risk exposure generally will be limited to those risks that arise in
the normal course of business, as we do not engage in speculative, non-operating transactions, nor do we utilize financial instruments or derivative instruments for trading
purposes.
Commodity price risk
Our material and fuel purchases expose us to commodity price risk. Our material costs primarily include the cost of inventory consumed while performing our pressure pumping
services such as proppants, chemicals, trucking and fluid supplies. For our manufacturing segment, our material costs primarily include the cost of steel. For our proppant
production segment, our material costs primarily include the cost of fuel. Our fuel costs consist primarily of diesel fuel used by our trucks, frac fleets and other motorized
equipment. The prices for fuel and the raw materials in our inventory are volatile and are impacted by changes in supply and demand, as well as market uncertainty and regional
shortages. Additionally, the market for our products and services is indirectly exposed to fluctuations in the prices of oil and natural gas to the extent such fluctuations impact
well completion activity levels. Historically, we have generally been able to pass along price increases to our customers; however, we may be unable to do so in the future. We
do not engage in commodity price hedging activities.
Interest rate risk
We are subject to interest rate risk on our variable rate debt from our New Term Loan Credit Facility and our New ABL Credit Facility. The Company also has fixed rate debt
but does not currently utilize derivative instruments to manage the economic effect of changes in interest rates. The impact of a 1% increase in interest rates on our outstanding
debt as of June 30, 2022 would have resulted in an annual increase in interest expense of approximately $4.5 million.
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Credit risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk are trade account receivables. We extend credit to customers and other parties in the normal
course of business. We have established various procedures to manage our credit exposure, including credit evaluations and maintaining an allowance for doubtful accounts.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures. Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We maintain a system of disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) designed to ensure that the information required to be
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and
forms of the SEC, and is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Executive Chairman (our principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer
(our principal financial officer), as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures,
management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control
objectives, as ours are designed to do, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and
procedures.
Our management, with the participation of our Executive Chairman and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as
defined under the Exchange Act, as of June 30, 2022, the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based upon that evaluation, our Executive
Chairman and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Limitations on Controls and Procedures
In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how well conceived and
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure controls and procedures are met. Additionally, in designing disclosure
controls and procedures, our management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and
procedures. The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any
design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the
degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and
not be detected.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1. Legal Proceedings.
Information with respect to this Item may be found in Note 17 – Commitments and contingencies in the notes to our consolidated financial statements in this Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q should be read in conjunction with the risk factors disclosed under the heading “Risk Factors” in the Prospectus. Except for the risk factors
noted below, there have been no material changes to the risk factors disclosed under the heading “Risk Factors” in the IPO Prospectus and the factors described under the
heading “Risk Factors” in our prospectus, dated August 8, 2022, filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424(b) under the Securities Act on August 8, 2022 in connection with the
resale of our Class A common stock by the selling shareholders named therein. In addition to the risk factors enumerated below, risk factors in our Prospectus, including
without limitation risk factors that address risks relating to potential future acquisitions and risks relating to indebtedness, are implicated by the Merger and our expected
financing needs in connection therewith.
Consummation of the Merger is contingent upon the satisfaction of a number of conditions, including approval by USWS’ stockholders, which may not be satisfied or
completed on a timely basis, if at all. Failure to complete the Merger could negatively impact our stock price, business, financial condition, results of operations or
prospects.
Consummation of the Merger is subject to conditions to closing that are not wholly within the Company’s control, including, among other things, adoption of the Merger
Agreement by the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of USWS Common Stock entitled to vote on the adoption of the Merger Agreement. We cannot assure you
that each of the conditions with respect to the Merger will be satisfied or waived in a timely manner, if at all, and the Merger may be delayed or not consummated. If the
conditions are not satisfied or waived in a timely manner and the Merger is delayed or not consummated, we may lose some or all of the intended or perceived benefits of the
Merger, which could cause our stock price to decline and harm our business.
We are also subject to additional risks in connection with the Merger, including, without limitation: (1) the parties’ ability to meet expectations regarding the timing and
completion of the Merger; (2) the occurrence of any event, change or other circumstance that could give rise to the termination of the Merger Agreement; (3) the effect of the
announcement or pendency of the Merger on our business relationships, operating results, and business generally; (4) risks that the Merger disrupts the Company’s current plans
and operations; (5) the amount of the costs, fees, expenses and other charges related to the Merger; (6) the outcome of any legal proceedings that may be instituted against us or
any of our affiliates relating to the transactions contemplated by the Merger; (7) the restrictions imposed on our business and operations pursuant to any affirmative or negative
covenants set forth in the documents relating to the Merger, and the potential impact of such covenants on our business; (8) the risk that the Merger will divert management’s
attention resulting in a potential disruption of our current business plan; (9) potential difficulties in employee retention arising from the Merger; (10) the ability to obtain certain
governmental and regulatory approvals, including the expiration or termination of the HSR Act waiting period (which has been satisfied); and (11) the ability to integrate
acquired assets and personnel into our existing business model and realize the expected value of resulting operational synergies from the Merger.
We may be required to incur significant additional indebtedness in order to finance the Merger, which will limit our operating flexibility, and could adversely affect our
operations and financial results and prevent us from fulfilling our obligations.
Although we expect to fund our obligations in connection with the Merger through the New Term Loan Credit Facility and/or the New ABL Credit Facility, available cash,
additional loans and/or notes and cash flows generated from operations, we cannot assure that these sources will be sufficient, or that we will be able to refinance any of our
outstanding indebtedness, and/or obtain additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, or that our cash flows generated from operations will be sufficient, in order to satisfy
our obligations in connection with the Merger, or otherwise.
Our ability to refinance any of our outstanding indebtedness, and/or obtain additional financing in order to satisfy our obligations in connection with the Merger will depend on,
among other things, our financial condition at the time, restrictions in agreements governing our indebtedness, and other factors, including the financial condition of USWS,
restrictions in agreements governing the indebtedness of that we are assuming, and the condition of the financial markets and the markets in which we compete. As a result, we
cannot assure that we will be able to refinance any of our outstanding indebtedness, and/or obtain additional financing on favorable terms, or at all, or that our cash flows
generated from operations will be sufficient, in order to satisfy our obligations in connection with the Merger, or otherwise.
To the extent we are able to refinance any of our outstanding indebtedness, and/or obtain additional financing, such level of indebtedness may:
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•

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to our outstanding indebtedness;

•

increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions, including increases in interest rates;

•

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to interest and principal payments on our indebtedness, which would reduce the availability of
our cash flow to fund working capital, capital expenditures, expansion efforts and other general corporate purposes;

•

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

•

place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less debt; and

•

limit our ability to borrow additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, general corporate purposes and acquisitions.

In addition, the terms of any financing obligations to be incurred in connection with any refinancing of any of our outstanding indebtedness, and/or additional financing are
likely to contain covenants that restrict our ability to engage in certain transactions and may impair our ability to respond to changing business and economic conditions,
including, among other things, limitations on our ability to:
•

incur additional indebtedness;

•

pay dividends and make distributions;

•

repurchase stock;

•

make certain investments;

•

create liens;

•

engage in transactions with affiliates;

•

merge with or acquire another company; and

•

transfer and sell assets.

Our ability to comply with these provisions may be affected by general economic conditions, political decisions, industry conditions and other events beyond our control. Our
failure to comply with the covenants contained in any amended or new financing facilities could result in an event of default, which could materially and adversely affect our
business, results of operation and financial condition.
If there were an event of default under our current, amended or new debt instruments (if any), the holders of such debt may be able to cause all amounts outstanding to be due
and payable immediately and such event of default may be cross-defaulted to other debt. Our assets or cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings under such debt
instruments if accelerated upon an event of default, and there is no guarantee that we would be able to repay, refinance or restructure the payments under any such indebtedness.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow to service all of our obligations, including our obligations under our recently amended credit and other financing
facilities.
Our ability to fund our various obligations in connection with the Merger, make payments on, refinance any of our outstanding indebtedness, and/or obtain additional financing,
including any indebtedness incurred to finance the Merger, and to fund planned capital expenditures, other strategic transactions and expansion efforts, will depend on our
ability to generate cash in the future. This, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our
control.
Our business may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows from operations, and we cannot assure that future borrowings will be available to us in amounts sufficient to
enable us to pay our indebtedness or any future indebtedness as such indebtedness matures and to fund our other liquidity needs. If this is the case, we will need to refinance all
or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity, and we cannot assure that we will be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms, or at
all. We may need to implement one or more alternatives, such as reducing or delaying planned expenses and capital expenditures, selling assets, restructuring debt, or obtaining
additional equity or debt financing. These financing strategies may not be executed on satisfactory terms, if at all. Our ability to refinance our indebtedness or obtain additional
financing, and to do so on commercially reasonable terms, will depend on, among other things, our financial condition at the time, restrictions in agreements governing our
indebtedness, and other factors, including the condition of the financial markets and the markets in which we will compete.
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If we do not generate sufficient cash flows from operations, and additional borrowings, refinancings or proceeds of asset sales are not available to us, we may not have sufficient
cash to enable us to meet all of our obligations, including our various obligations in connection with the Merger.
Our financial results may be materially adversely affected by the inclusion of Flotek’s financial statements in our consolidated financial statements, and we do not have
the benefit of Flotek’s cash or liquidity.
Due to our determination that Flotek is a VIE of which the Company is the primary beneficiary, Flotek’s financial statements have been included in our consolidated financial
statements from May 17, 2022. Consequently, our financial results may be materially adversely affected if Flotek reports poor or worsened financial results. In addition, we do
not have the ability to access or deploy Flotek’s cash or liquidity in our operations, which may limit our ability to mitigate the impact of the inclusion of Flotek’s financial
statements in our consolidated financial statements.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Initial Public Offering
On May 12, 2022, our Registration Statement on Form S-1, as amended (File No. 333-261255), was declared effective in connection with the IPO, pursuant to which we issued
and sold an aggregate of 18,228,153 shares of our Class A Common Stock including the partial exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option to purchase additional
shares, at a price to the public of $18.00 per share. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Piper Sandler & Co. and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC acted as representatives of the
underwriters. The IPO closed on May 17, 2022. The IPO and exercise of the over-allotment option generated combined net proceeds of approximately $303.9 million, after
deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $15.2 million and offering expenses of $9.0 million. With the exception of $4.5 million to be paid to Wilks Brothers for
IPO support services and activities including legal, tax, technology and accounting support, no payments for any offering expenses were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of
our officers or directors or their associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities or (iii) any of our affiliates
The Company used $72.9 million of the net proceeds from the IPO to redeem the membership ownership interests from the then-existing owners of THRC FTSI Related Equity
(as described in Note 14 – Acquisitions and investments in the notes to our consolidated financial statements) and contributed the remaining proceeds to ProFrac LLC. The
Company used the remaining proceeds to (i) to pay down $143.8 million of the outstanding borrowings under the New Term Loan Credit Facility, (ii) to fully pay the $22.0
million of the outstanding borrowings of the Backstop Note (iii) pay down $22.0 million of the outstanding borrowings of the Closing Date Note and (iv) pay down $20.8
million of the outstanding borrowings of the Equify Bridge Note. The Company currently intends to use the balance of the remaining proceeds for general corporate uses and
additional repayment of debt.
Munger Ranch Sellers
As part of the IPO completed in May 2022, the sellers of Munger Ranch were issued 2,114,273 shares of Class A Common Stock in exchange for the $30.0 million
consideration related to the Munger Ranch purchase. The securities issued to the sellers of Munger Ranch were offered in reliance on an exemption from registration provided by
Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. The Company relied on this exemption from registration based on part on representations made by each of the sellers of Munger Ranch,
including that each such seller is an “accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501(a) under the Securities Act.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.
None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
The information concerning mine safety violations and other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection
Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.104) is included in Exhibit 95 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Item 5. Other Information.
The information regarding the deemed grants of stock-based compensation in Note 11—Stock-based compensation in the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included in this report is incorporated by reference herein.
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Item 6. Exhibits.
Furnish the exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K (§ 229.601 of this chapter).
Exhibit
Number

Description

2.1

Master Reorganization Agreement, dated as of May 12, 2022, by and among ProFrac Holdings, LLC, ProFrac Holding Corp. and the other parties thereto
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022).

2.2^

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of June 21, 2022, by and among U.S. Well Services, Inc., ProFrac Holding Corp. and Thunderclap Merger Sub I, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 24, 2022).

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of ProFrac Holding Corp., as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on May 17, 2022
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of ProFrac Holding Corp. effective as of May 17, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022).

4.1

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2022, by and among ProFrac Holding Corp., THRC Holdings, LP, Farris C. Wilks and the other parties
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022).

4.2

Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company Agreement of ProFrac Holdings, LLC, dated as of May 17, 2022 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022).

4.3

Stockholders’ Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2022, by and among ProFrac Holding Corp., THRC Holdings, LP, Farris C. Wilks, FARJO Holdings, LP and the
Farris and Jo Ann Wilks 2022 Family Trust (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May
18, 2022).

10.1

Tax Receivable Agreement, dated as of May 17, 2022, by and among ProFrac Holding Corp., the TRA Holders and the Agents named therein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022).

10.2 †

ProFrac Holding Corp. 2022 Long Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 18, 2022).

10.3

Shared Services Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2022, by and between Wilks Brothers, LLC and ProFrac Holdings II, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 18, 2022).

10.4

Indemnification Agreement (Johnathan Ladd Wilks) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 18, 2022).

10.5

Indemnification Agreement (Matthew D. Wilks) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on May 18, 2022).

10.6

Indemnification Agreement (James Coy Randle, Jr.) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on May 18, 2022).

10.7

Indemnification Agreement (Lance Turner) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 18, 2022).

10.8

Indemnification Agreement (Robert Willette) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 18, 2022).

10.9

Indemnification Agreement (Sergei Krylov) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 18, 2022).

10.10

Indemnification Agreement (Theresa Glebocki) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC
on May 18, 2022).
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10.11

Indemnification Agreement (Stacy Nieuwoudt) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 18, 2022).

10.12

Indemnification Agreement (Gerald Haddock) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
May 18, 2022).

10.13

Amendment No. 1 to Chemical Products Supply Agreement between Flotek Chemistry, LLC and ProFrac Services, LLC dated May 17, 2022 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on May 23, 2022).

10.14

Form of Voting Agreement, by and among ProFrac Holding Corp. and the stockholders of U.S. Well Services, Inc. party thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 24, 2022).

10.15

Form of Warrant Purchase Agreement, by and among ProFrac Holding Corp. and the holders of warrants of U.S. Well Services, Inc. party thereto (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 24, 2022).

10.16

First Amendment to Term Loan Credit Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2022, by and among ProFrac Holdings II, LLC, ProFrac Holdings, LLC, the guarantors
party thereto, the lenders party thereto, and Piper Sandler Finance LLC, as the agent and collateral agent for the lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 29, 2022).

10.17

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 25, 2022, by and among ProFrac Holdings II, LLC, ProFrac Holdings, LLC, the guarantors party
thereto, the lenders party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as the agent and collateral agent for the lenders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on July 29, 2022).

10.18*†

Assignment Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2022, by and between Farris Wilks and Jo Ann Wilks, as Co-Trustees of the Farris and Jo Ann Wilks 2022 Family
Trust, created by Trust Agreement dated as of May 10, 2022, as assignor, and KWELL Holdings, LP, as assignee and Declaration of Intent

10.19*†

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated as of August [_], 2022, by and between THRC Holdings, LP, a Texas limited liability company, as assignor, and
Matthew D. Wilks, as assignee.

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

95*

Mine Safety Disclosure Exhibit.

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline
XBRL document.

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)

*
**
†
^

Filed herewith.
Furnished herewith.
Compensatory plan or arrangement.
Schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The Company agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of such schedules, or any section
thereof, to the SEC upon request.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly
authorized.
Profrac Holding Corp.
Date: August 15, 2022

By: /s/ Matthew D. Wilks
Matthew D. Wilks
Executive Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 15, 2022

By: /s/ Lance Turner
Lance Turner
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 10.18
ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT
THIS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Assignment Agreement”) is made effective as of the 10th day of May, 2022 (the
“Effective Date”) by and between FARRIS C. WILKS and JO ANN M. WILKS, as Co-Trustees of the FARRIS AND JO ANN WILKS 2022
FAMILY TRUST, created by Trust Agreement dated May 10, 2022 (“ Assignor”) and KWELL HOLDINGS, LP, a Texas limited partnership
(“Assignee”).
RECITALS:
WHEREAS, Assignor owns certain Class A Units in ProFrac Holdings, LLC, a Texas limited liability company (“ProFrac”);
WHEREAS, Assignor desires to assign to Assignee 10 Class A Units in ProFrac, representing a 1% equity interest therein (the
“Assigned Interest”), as described hereinbelow;
WHEREAS, Assignee desires to accept the Assigned Interest and to assume the obligations described in this Assignment
Agreement.
AGREEMENT:
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual undertakings expressed in this Assignment Agreement and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt of which is acknowledged by this Assignment Agreement, Assignor and Assignee agree as follows:
1.
Subject to the conditions imposed in this Assignment Agreement, Assignor hereby grants, sells, assigns, transfers, and
conveys to Assignee the Assigned Interest. Assignor hereby relinquishes all dominion and control over the Assigned Interest, and assigns to
Assignee all of Assignor's assignable rights with respect to the Assigned Interest.
2.
Assignor and Assignee hereby acknowledge and agree that the Assigned Interest is being sold to Assignee in
consideration of the execution of a promissory note as described below; provided, however, that Assignee hereby acknowledges and agrees
that Assignor shall have a continuing security interest in the Assigned Interest pursuant to that certain Security Agreement of even date
herewith.
3.
As a condition of the ownership of the Assigned Interest under this Assignment Agreement, Assignee shall deliver to
Assignor a promissory note of even date herewith pursuant to which Assignee will be liable to pay to the order of Assignor an aggregate
original principal amount equal to the Fair Market Value of the Assigned Interest as of the Effective Date, as determined for federal estate and
gift tax purposes (the “Note Amount”). The promissory note shall be in a form acceptable to Assignor and substantially similar to the form
attached hereto as Exhibit A.
For purposes of this Assignment Agreement, the “Fair Market Value ” shall be the price at which the property would change hands
between a hypothetical willing buyer and a reasonable
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knowledge of relevant facts for purposes of Chapter 12 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
Assignor and Assignee agree that the Note Amount shall initially be based on the Fair Market Value of one (1) Class A Unit in
ProFrac as of the Effective Date as determined in a written appraisal prepared by an appraiser agreed upon by Assignor and Assignee (the
“Appraiser”). Assignor and Assignee agree that appraisal work is difficult and that it is possible that the Appraiser could inadvertently make a
mistake in determining the Fair Market Value of one (1) Class A Unit in ProFrac. Both parties agree that the purpose of entering into this
Agreement is to transfer the Assigned Interest at its true Fair Market Value. Thus, in the event that the Appraiser has incorrectly determined
the Fair Market Value of one (1) Class A Unit in ProFrac, then the Note Amount shall be redetermined, as of the Effective Date, using the true
Fair Market Value of one (1) Class A Unit in ProFrac as determined for federal estate and gift tax purposes. Underpayments or overpayments
of prior payment amounts under the promissory note shall be paid by Assignor or Assignee, as the case may be, to the other along with interest
accrued thereon at the applicable federal rate, as soon as practicable.
4.
Assignee agrees to be bound by the terms and conditions of the Second Amended and Restated Limited liability company
Agreement of ProFrac Holdings, LLC dated March 14, 2018.
5.

Assignor grants Assignee the legal right to become a substituted member of ProFrac.

6.
Assignor and Assignee shall execute such assignments, endorsements, evidences of transfer, and other instruments and
documents, and shall give such further assurances, as are necessary to perform the obligations assumed by Assignor and Assignee under this
Assignment Agreement.
7.
Neither this Assignment Agreement nor any interest in this Assignment Agreement shall be assigned by any party without
the prior written consent of the other party.
8.
This Assignment Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Texas, and the rights and
liabilities of Assignor and Assignee shall be governed by the laws of the State of Texas.
[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have duly executed this Assignment Agreement as of the Effective Date.
ASSIGNOR:
/s/ Farris C. Wilks
FARRIS C. WILKS, Co-Trustee of the FARRIS AND JO ANN
WILKS 2022 FAMILY TRUST
/s/ Jo Ann M. Wilks
JO ANN M. WILKS, Co-Trustee of the FARRIS AND JO ANN
WILKS 2022 FAMILY TRUST
ASSIGNEE:
KWELL HOLDINGS, LP, a Texas limited partnership
By: KWELL Group, LLC, a Texas limited liability company, general
partner
By: /s/ J. Ladd Wilks
J. LADD WILKS, Manager
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DECLARATION OF INTENT
OF
FARRIS AND JO ANN WILKS
We, the undersigned, execute this Declaration of Intent. The following sets forth the premises for and our intent in making a gift to
our son, J. Ladd Wilks (“Ladd”), upon the occurrence of a certain event.
A.
We owned, as community property, certain interests in ProFrac Holdings, LLC (“ProFrac”), both directly and through our
ownership in FTS International, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“FTSI”).
B.
On or about May 9, 2022, we sold all or a portion of our direct and indirect interests in ProFrac to the Farris and Jo Ann
Wilks 2022 Family Trust, created by trust agreement by and among Timothy M. Dunn, as Trustor, and Farris C. Wilks and Jo Ann M. Wilks,
as Co-Trustees (the “Family Trust”).
C.

Ladd serves as Chief Executive Officer of ProFrac.

D.
Under Ladd's leadership, ProFrac has been very successful and is on the path towards an initial public offering in which
ProFrac will be reorganized as a corporation, ProFrac Holding Corp. (referred to herein as “PF Holdings”).
E.
If PF Holdings achieves a market capitalization of Four Billion Five Hundred Million Dollars ($4,500,000,000.00) within
the next five years while Ladd is serving as Chief Executive Officer or in a similar leadership role, it is our intent to gift to Ladd or to a trust for
Ladd' s benefit one percent (1%) of the total equity of PF Holdings.
F.
If PF Holdings achieves a market capitalization of Five Billion Dollars ($5,000,000,000.00) within the next five years
while Ladd is serving as Chief Executive Officer or in a similar leadership role. it is our intent to gift to Ladd or to a trust for Ladd's benefit an
additional one-half percent (0.5%) of the total equity of PF Holdings.
G.
If PF Holdings achieves a market capitalization of Five Billion Five Hundred Million Dollars ($5,500,000,000.00) within
the next five years while Ladd is serving as Chief Executive Officer or in a similar leadership role, it is our intent to gift to Ladd or to a trust for
Ladd's benefit an additional one-half percent (0.5%) of the total equity of PF Holdings.
H.
In such event, the interest transferred to Ladd or to a trust for Ladd's benefit may be in the form of a gift from us or a
transfer from the Family Trust pursuant to an exercise of an inter vivos special power of appointment provided in Section 2.2.C.l of the trust
agreement.
I.
The transfer to Ladd is intended as a gratuitous transfer in honor of and appreciation for Ladd's dedication, hard work, and
achievement, and is not intended as compensation.
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J.

This Declaration of Intent 1s intended to memorialize our intent and is not intended as a binding contract.

Executed this 10th day of May, 2022.
/s/ Farris C. Wilks
FARRIS C. WILKS
/s/ Jo Ann M. Wilks
JO ANN M. WILKS
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Exhibit 10.19

Assignment and Assumption
THIS ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement”) is entered into as of August ___, 2022, by and
between THRC Holdings, LP, a Texas limited liability company (the “Assignor”) and Matthew D. Wilks (the “Assignee”).
WHEREAS, ProFrac Holding Corp., a Delaware corporation (“Pubco”), is the managing member of ProFrac Holdings LLC, a
Texas limited liability company (“Company”);
WHEREAS, Assignor is a member of the Company and a party to that certain Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability
Company Operating Agreement of the Company, dated May 17, 2022 (the “Operating Agreement”);
WHEREAS, Assignor owns Units in the Company;
WHEREAS, Assignor owns Class B Shares of PubCo (each Unit and Class B Share together shall be referred to herein as a
“Combined Unit”);
WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms of the Operating Agreement, Units may not be transferred unless a corresponding number of
Class B Shares are also transferred to the same person;
WHEREAS, Assignor desires to assign, transfer, and sell to Assignee (i) 1,220,978 Units representing approximately a 1% equity
interest in the Company, together with all other interest of Assignor in such Units (the “ Company Interests”) and (ii) 1,220,978 Class B Shares,
together with all other interest of Assignor in such Class B Shares (the “Pubco Shares” and together with the Company Interests, the “Assigned
Interests”) at a price of $18 per Combined Unit (the “Assignment”); and
WHEREAS, the Assignor and Assignee intended to, but did not evidence, the Assignment prior to the IPO.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, terms, and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and for other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows:
1.
Assignment and Sale. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Assignor hereby assigns and transfers all of such
Assignor’s right, title, and interest in and to the Assigned Interests to the Assignee in exchange for a total of $21,977,604 ($18 per Combined
Unit), which shall be paid in the form of a promissory note issued by Assignee to Assignor in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A (the
“Note”). The conveyance of the Assigned Interest hereunder is an absolute transfer to Assignee, free and clear of all liens and restrictions other
than Permitted Liens. “Permitted Liens” shall mean those liens or restrictions imposed by federal and state securities laws, the governing
documents of the Company or Pubco, or pursuant to agreements by and between the Company and Assignor or the Pubco and Assignor, as
applicable.

2.

Conditions to Assignment. The assignment and transfer of the Assigned Interests shall be subject to the following conditions:
(a)

The Assignee shall have delivered to the Assignor the duly executed Note.

(b)
The Assignee shall have delivered to the Pubco a duly executed joinder to that certain Stockholders
Agreement dated as of May 17, 2022 among Pubco, Assignor, Farris C. Wilks, FARJO Holdings, LP and the Farris and Jo Ann
Wilks 2022 Family Trust in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.
(c)
The Assignee shall have delivered to the Pubco a duly executed joinder to that certain Registration Rights
Agreement dated as of May 17, 2022, among Pubco, Assignor, Farris and Jo Ann Wilks 2022 Family Trust, Farjo Holdings, LP
and Farris C. Wilks in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.
(d)
The Assignee shall have delivered to the Company a duly executed joinder to the Operating Agreement in
substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit D.
3.
Representations and Warranties of Assignor . Assignor represents and warrants that (a) Assignor has all necessary capacity,
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and perform the obligations hereunder and this Agreement and the consummation by
Assignor of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Assignor; (b) this
Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Assignor, and assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by
Assignee, will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Assignor enforceable against Assignor in accordance with its terms; (c)
Assignor is the true and lawful owner of the Assigned Interests and has good and marketable title to the same; (d) Assignor has not made a
prior assignment or sale of the Assigned Interests and no other person or entity has any right, title, or interest therein; (e) the execution and
delivery hereof by Assignor and the assignment of its right, title, and interest in and to the Assigned Interests does not contravene any
agreement to which the Assignor is a party or by which it or its property, or the Company’s or the Pubco’s property, is bound; (f) no liens,
encumbrances, charges, or security interests of any kind exist on the date hereof against the Assigned Interests other than Permitted Liens; (g)
neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Assignor, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby by the
Assignor, will violate any judgment, order, decree, law, rule or regulation applicable to the Assignor; and (h) Assignor hereby warrants and
defends title to the Assigned Interest to Assignee against the claims and demands of all persons.
4.
Representations and Warranties of Assignee . Assignee represents and warrants that (a) Assignee has all necessary capacity,
power and authority to enter into this Agreement and perform the obligations hereunder and this Agreement and the consummation by
Assignee of the transactions contemplated hereby have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary action on the part of Assignee; (b)
this Agreement has been duly and validly executed and delivered by Assignee, and assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement
by Assignor, will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of Assignee enforceable against Assignee in accordance with its terms; and
(c) neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by

Assignee, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby by the Assignee, will violate any judgment, order, decree, law, rule or
regulation applicable to the Assignee.
5.
Acceptance by Assignee . Assignee accepts the assignment of all of Assignor’s right, title, and interest in and to the Assigned
Interests and agrees to be bound by all of the terms, covenants, and conditions of this Agreement. Assignee understands that the sale of the
Assigned Interests hereunder has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933 or any applicable state securities laws, and that the
Assigned Interests may not be transferred unless they are sold pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act of 1933
or are sold or transferred pursuant to an exemption from such registration, and in compliance with any applicable conditions of Rule 144 with
regard to any such sale or transfer.
6.
Further Assurances. Each of the parties hereto shall execute and deliver such additional documents, instruments, conveyances
and assurances, and take such further actions as may be reasonably required to carry out the provisions hereof and give effect to the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
7.
Heirs, Successors, and Assigns. This Agreement shall bind and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective
successors and assigns.
8.

Legends.
(a)
Assignee understands and agrees that the Company will place a legend substantially in the form set forth
below on any certificates representing the Company Interests:
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT AND HAVE NOT
BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933. SUCH SHARES MAY NOT BE SOLD,
PLEDGED, OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR A VALID EXEMPTION
FROM THE REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT.
(a)
Assignee understands and agrees that the Pubco will place the legends substantially in the form set forth
below on any certificates representing the Pubco Shares:
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY HAVE BEEN ACQUIRED FOR INVESTMENT AND HAVE NOT
BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933. SUCH SHARES MAY NOT BE SOLD,
PLEDGED, OR TRANSFERRED IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR A VALID EXEMPTION
FROM THE REGISTRATION AND PROSPECTUS DELIVERY REQUIREMENTS OF SAID ACT.
THE SECURITIES REPRESENTED HEREBY ARE SUBJECT TO RESTRICTIONS ON VOTING AND
TRANSFER AND CERTAIN OTHER LIMITATIONS SET FORTH IN THE STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT
DATED AS OF MAY 17, 2022 AMONG PROFRAC HOLDING CORP., THRC HOLDING, LP, FARRIS C. WILKS,
FARJO HOLDINGS, LP AND THE

FARRIS AND JO ANN WILKS 2022 FAMILY TRUST, COPIES OF WHICH ARE ON FILE AT THE PRINCIPAL
OFFICE OF THE COMPANY AND SHALL BE PROVIDED TO A STOCKHOLDER OF THE COMPANY FREE
OF CHARGE UPON A REQUEST THEREFOR.
9.
Governing Law. This Agreement and all other instruments referred to herein shall be governed by, and shall be construed
according to, the laws of the State of Texas, without regard to conflict of law rules.
10.
Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed and delivered
shall be deemed an original for all purposes, and all such counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same instrument. A signed copy
of this Agreement delivered by either facsimile or email shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed copy of
this Assignment.
11.
Notice. All notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, waivers and other communications hereunder (each, a “Notice”)
shall be in writing and shall be deemed given upon the first to occur of (a) deposit with an overnight courier service, properly addressed and
postage prepaid, (b) transmittal by e-mail property addressed (with written acknowledgment from the intended recipient such as “return receipt
requested” function, return e-mail or other written acknowledgment), or (c) actual receipt by the addressed party. Notices hereunder shall be
addressed to the parties at the addresses set forth below (or to such other address that may be designated by the receiving party from time to
time in accordance with this section):
If to Assignor:
THRC Holdings, LP
333 Shops Boulevard, Suite 301
Willow Park, Texas 76087
Attention: [ ]
E-mail: [ ]
With a copy to (which shall not constitute Notice):
Brown Rudnick LLP
One Financial Center
Boston, MA 02111
Attention: James Bedar
E-mail: jbedar@brownrudnick.com
If to Assignee:
Matthew D. Wilks
[Address]
E-mail: [ ]

With a copy to (which shall not constitute Notice):
[Law Firm]
[Address]
Attention: [ ]
E-mail: [ ]
12.
Amendments and Modifications. This Agreement may not be modified or amended in any manner other than by a written
agreement signed by the party to be charged.
13.
Defined Terms. Capitalized terms used herein, but not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in the
Operating Agreement.
[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the date set forth above.
Assignor:
THRC Holdings, LP
By: THRC Management, LLC, its General Partner
/s/ Dan H. Wilks
Name:Dan H. Wilks
Title: Manager
Assignee:
/s/ Matthew D. Wilks
Name:Matthew D. Wilks

[Signature Page – Assignment and Assumption Agreement]

EXHIBIT A
NOTE
See attached.
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EXHIBIT B
JOINDER TO STOCKHOLDERS AGREEMENT
See attached.
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EXHIBIT C
JOINDER TO REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT
See attached.
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EXHIBIT D
JOINDER TO OPERATING AGREEMENT
See attached.
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Matthew D. Wilks, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ProFrac Holding Corp.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Omitted;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: August 15, 2022

By:

/s/ Matthew D. Wilks
Matthew D. Wilks
Executive Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Lance Turner, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ProFrac Holding Corp.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in
light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

5.

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Omitted;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: August 15, 2022

By:

/s/ Lance Turner
Lance Turner
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of ProFrac Holding Corp., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), on Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2022 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned officers of the Company do hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as
adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.

Date: August 15, 2022

By:

/s/ Matthew D. Wilks
Matthew D. Wilks
Executive Chairman
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 15, 2022

By:

/s/ Lance Turner
Lance Turner
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley act of 2002 has been provided to Profrac Holding Corp. and will be retained by
Profrac Holding Corp. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.

Exhibit 95
MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Under Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K, each operator of a coal or other mine is required
to include certain mine safety information in its periodic reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The table below includes this mine safety information for
each mine facility owned and operated by ProFrac Holding Corp., or its subsidiaries, for the quarter ended June 30, 2022. Due to timing and other factors, our data may not
agree with the mine data retrieval system maintained by the Mine Safety and Health Administration (“MSHA”). The columns in the table represent the total number of, and the
proposed dollar assessment for, violations, citations and orders issued by MSHA during the period upon periodic inspection of our mine facilities in accordance with the
referenced sections of the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977, as amended (the “Mine Act”), described as follows:
Section 104 Significant and Substantial Violations: Total number of violations of mandatory health or safety standards that could significantly and substantially contribute to
the cause and effect of a coal or other mine safety or health hazard.
Section 104(b) Orders: Total number of orders issued due to a failure to totally abate, within the time period prescribed by MSHA, a violation previously cited under section
104, which results in the issuance of an order requiring the mine operator to immediately withdraw all persons from the mine.
Section 104(d) Citations and Orders: Total number of citations and orders issued for unwarrantable failure of the mine operator to comply with mandatory health and safety
standards. The violation could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a safety and health hazard, but the conditions do not cause imminent danger.
Section 110(b)(2) Flagrant Violations: Total number of flagrant violations defined as a reckless or repeated failure to make reasonable efforts to eliminate a known violation
of a mandatory health or safety standard that substantially and proximately caused, or reasonably could have been expected to cause, death or serious bodily injury.
Section 107(a) Imminent Danger Orders: Total number of orders issued when an imminent danger is identified which requires all persons to be withdrawn from area(s) in the
mine until the imminent danger and the conditions that caused it to cease to exist.
Total Dollar Value of Proposed MSHA Assessments: Each issuance of a citation or order by MSHA results in the assessment of a monetary penalty. The total dollar value
presented includes any contested penalties.
Legal Actions Pending, Initiated or Resolved: Total number of cases pending legal action before the Federal Mine Safety and Health Review Commission as of the last day of
the reporting period or the number of such cases initiated or resolved during the reporting period.
Legal Actions
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We had no mining-related fatalities at any of our facilities during the quarter ended June 30, 2022. During this period we also received no written notices from MSHA under
section 104(e) of the Mine Act of (i) a pattern of violations of mandatory health or safety standards that are of such nature as could have significantly and substantially
contributed to the cause and effect of coal or other mine health or safety hazards; or (ii) the potential to have such a pattern.

